

A Role of Vitamin C in the Young Brain: Effects of deficiency in a model of human hypovitaminosis C

Dissertation 2022 Pernille Tveden-Nyborg

A Role of Vitamin C in the Young Brain: Effects of deficiency in a model of human hypovitaminosis C

By Pernille Tveden-Nyborg

Department of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences University of Copenhagen 2022 The Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences at the University of Copenhagen has accepted this dissertation for public defence for the doctoral degree in medicine. Copenhagen, 13. January 2022. *Ulla Wever*, Head of Faculty.

The defence will take place Friday the 1st of April 2022, at 13:30 p.m. in auditorium A1-01.01, Bülowsvej 17, Frederiksberg

Officially appointed opponents: Professor Maria Cristina Polidori, University of Cologne Professor Bente Finsen, University of Southern Denmark Chair: Professor Thomas Thymann, University of Copenhagen

A Role of Vitamin C in the Young Brain: Effects of deficiency in a model of human hypovitaminosis C Dissertation 2022 © Pernille Tveden-Nyborg ISBN 978-87-7209-438-0 Printed by SL grafik, Frederiksberg. Cover photo: Lemon and brain (S. Tveden-Nyborg)

Preface

The studies constituting the basis of the experimental work of this dissertation were conducted at the University of Copenhagen, Frederiksberg. Most analyses were performed locally, but some investigations have been part of collaborations including the laboratories of Associate Professor Jytte Overgaard Larsen Petersen, University of Copenhagen, Professor Stephan Christen, University of Bern, and Professor Jens Randel Nyengaard, Aarhus University. Thank you for your efforts and participation.

The financial support for the conducted studies was primarily granted by The Danish Council for Independent Research and the Lifepharm Center, and is gratefully acknowledged.

The value and virtue of collaborative efforts in the pursuit of common research goals is clear. I hereby extend my sincere gratitude to all who have taken part in achieving progress in this area of science, yielding hard work and pulling long hours, and finding reward in striving to make a difference in a larger perspective. This includes past and present colleagues, collaborators, co-authors and students, please know that your efforts are recognized and truly valued. Special thanks go to former PhD students: Drs. Janne G. Schjoldager, Maya D. Paidi, Stine Hasselholt and Stine N. Hansen.

I owe specific gratitude to Professor Jens Lykkesfeldt. For mentorship, friendship and for offering the "vitamin C and the brain" project to me. For never wavering in support and honest advice. For seeing opportunities and potential even in times of low motivation. For patience and persistence. For laughs and jokes, and for insisting that it has to be fun to go to work! For introducing prime rib and high quality BBQ - "he don't eat no meat?" - And for generously inviting me and my family to yours.

True and profound thankfulness to my husband, Svend, and our children, Emma, Mathilde and Pelle, for your tireless encouragement, tolerance and care. Thank you for ensuring that my priorities remain calibrated to what really matters. You are everything to me.

Many thanks to Associate Professor Dorte Bratbo Sørensen for pirate smiles, cherry mead and sharing a quirky sense of humour. To family, friends and "brothers" who have offered their unlimited support free of charge. And to Dolly Parton for relentlessly keeping me "working nine-to-five" ... - and then some.

Farendløse, January 2022

Pernille Tveden-Nyborg

Manuscripts included

The present thesis is based on the following publications, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

I: Schjoldager JG, Paidi MD, Lindblad MM, Birck MM, Kjærgaard AB, Dantzer VD, Lykkesfeldt J and Tveden-Nyborg P. Maternal vitamin C deficiency during pregnancy results in transient fetal and placental growth retardation in guinea pigs. European Journal of Nutrition. 2015; 54: 667-676. Erratum appears in European Journal of Nutrition, 2015, 54(4): 677-678

II: Paidi MD, Schjoldager JG, Lykkesfeldt J and Tveden-Nyborg P. Prenatal vitamin C deficiency results in differential levels of oxidative stress during late gestation in foetal guinea pig brains. Redox Biology. 2014; 2: 361-367.

III: Hansen SN, Schjoldager JG, Paidi MD, Lykkesfeldt J and Tveden-Nyborg P. Maternal vitamin C deficiency does not reduce hippocampal volume and β -tubulin III intensity in prenatal guinea pigs. Nutrition Research. 2016; 7: 696-702.

IV: Tveden-Nyborg P, Vogt L, Schjoldager JG, Jeannet N, Hasselholt S, Paidi MD, Christen S and Lykkesfeldt J. Maternal vitamin C deficiency during pregnancy persistently impairs hippocampal neurogenesis in offspring of guinea pigs. PLoSOne. 2012; 7(10): e48488.

V: Tveden-Nyborg P, Johansen LK, Raida Z, Villumsen CK, Larsen JO and Lykkesfeldt J. Vitamin C deficiency in early postnatal life impairs spatial memory and reduces the number of hippocampal neurons in guinea pigs. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2009 90(3):540-546.

VI: Hansen S, Schou-Pedersen A, Lykkesfeldt J, Tveden-Nyborg P. 2018. Spatial Memory Dysfunction Induced by Vitamin C Deficiency Is Associated with Changes in Monoaminergic Neurotransmitters and Aberrant Synapse Formation. Antioxidants. 2018; Jun 29;7: 82.

VII: Hansen S, Jørgensen J, Nyengaard J, Lykkesfeldt J, Tveden-Nyborg P. Early Life Vitamin C Deficiency Does Not Alter Morphology of Hippocampal CA1 Pyramidal Neurons or Markers of Synaptic Plasticity in a Guinea Pig Model. Nutrients. 2018; 10:749.

VIII: Paidi MD, Schjoldager JG, Lykkesfeldt J and Tveden-Nyborg P. 2014. Chronic vitamin C deficiency promotes redox imbalance in brain but does not alter sodium-dependent transporter 2 expression. Nutrients. 2014; 2: 1809-1822.

IX: Søgaard D, Lindblad MM, Paidi MD, Hasselholt S, Lykkesfeldt J and Tveden-Nyborg P. In vivo vitamin C deficiency in guinea pigs increases ascorbate transporters in liver but not kidney and brain. Nutrition Research. 2014; 34: 639-644.

Contents

1		Introduction5					
2		Aims and hypotheses7					
3		Vitamin C regulation in vivo					
	3.	.1	Cell	ular vitamin C uptake	9		
		3.1.:	1	Ascorbic acid transport	9		
		3.1.2		Dehydroascorbic acid transport1	0		
	3.	.2	Cell	ular vitamin C efflux1	.2		
	3.	.3	Vita	min C pharmacokinetics1	.3		
4		Vita	min	C transport to the brain1	.7		
	4.	.1	Cros	ssing the blood-brain barrier1	.7		
		4.1.3	1	ASC transport1	.8		
		4.1.2	2	DHA transport1	.8		
4.2 4. 4.		.2	Insid	de the brain1	.9		
		4.2.1		Vitamin C transport to neurons1	.9		
		4.2.2		Vitamin C transport to neuroglia2	20		
5 Vitamin C function in the brain							
	5.	.1	Pre	venting oxidation of poly-unsaturated fatty acids2	23		
	5.	.2	Co-f	actor for Fe ²⁺ -2-oxogluterate-dependent dioxygenases2	24		
		5.2.2	1	Collagen synthesis	24		
		5.2.2		Hypoxia-inducible transcription factors2	24		
	5.2.		3	Epigentic regulation	25		
	5.2		4	Carnitine availability	26		
	5.	.3	Sign	al transduction2	27		
		5.3.3	1	Monoaminergic neurotransmitters2	27		
	5.3.2		2	Glutamate signalling2	27		

6	Effe	cts of vitamin C deficiency on brain development		
	6.1	Prenatal effects of vitamin C deficiency31		
	6.1.1	Foetal vitamin C levels		
	6.1.2	2 Neuronal consequences		
	6.1.3	8 Effect of prenatal vitC deficiency on offspring growth		
	6.1.4	Clinical studies		
	6.2	Postnatal effects of vitamin C deficiency		
	6.2.1	Perinatal period and early life		
	6.2.2	2 Lipid peroxidation		
	6.2.3	Changes in brain structure and function		
	6.2.4	Infants born preterm		
	6.3	Vitamin C deficiency in young life41		
	6.3.1	Redox homeostasis41		
	6.3.2	2 Changes in brain structure and function42		
	6.3.3	3 Vitamin C status in children43		
7	Pote	ential challenges when evaluating clinical studies		
8	Con	cluding remarks		
9	Summary in English			
10				
11	Refe	erences		

List of abbreviations

- 3-MT: 3-Methoxytyramine 5-HIIA: 5-Hydroxyindoleacetic acid 5-HT: 5-Hydroxytryptamine Akr1a: Aldehyde reductase 1a APP/PSEN1: Amyloid precursor protein/ Presenelin 1 ASC: Ascorbate anion BBB: Blood brain barrier BDNF: Brain derived neurotrophic factor CA: Cornu ammonis CNS: Central nervous system CSF: Cerebrospinal fluid DG: Dentate gyrus DHA: Dehydroascorbic acid DOPAC: 3,4-Dihydrophenylacetic acid E: Embryonic day ECM: Extracellular matrix GABA: Gamma amino-butyric acid GABAA: Gamma amino-butyric acid receptor subunit A GD: Gestational day GFAP: Glial fibrillary acidic protein GLUT: Glucose transporter Gulo: Gulonolactone-oxidase **GSH:** Glutathione H3K27me3: Histone H3-subunit with lysine 27 tri-methylation HIFs: Hypoxia-inducible transcription factors HP: Hippocampus HVA: Homovanilinic acid NeuN: Neuronal nuclei NHANES: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey NMDA: N-methyl-D-aspartate MDA: Malondialdehyde PD: Postnatal day
- PUFA: Poly-unsaturated fatty acid

RDI: Recommended daily intake

ROS: Reactive oxygen species

SMP30/GNL: Senescence marker protein 30/gulonolactonase

SOD: Superoxide dismutase

SVCTs: Sodium dependent vitamin C co-transporters

SVCT1: Sodium dependent vitamin C co-transporter 1 (Slc23a1)

SVCT2: Sodium dependent vitamin C co-transporter 2 (Slc23a2)

TUNEL: Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling

VitC: Vitamin C

VitC depletion: No intake of VitC

VitC deficiency: Low level of VitC

VitE: Vitamin E

1 Introduction

Most animals are able to synthesize vitamin C (vitC) in the liver, but a few species including fish, birds, humans, non-human primates, guinea pigs and bats evolved to depend entirely on an adequate dietary vitC supply to ensure survival [1-5]. The disruption of an endogenous hepatic vitC production is due to a mutation in the L-gulono-γ-lactone oxidase gene, which in primates and guinea pigs occurred an estimated 60 and 14 million years ago [6-9]. The mutation renders vitC biosynthesis dysfunctional and introduces the risk of life threatening vitC deficiency if dietary supplies are scarce.

Historically, scurvy has claimed the lives of thousands and has undoubtedly been dreaded and treatment options sought. Modern day paleopathology report scorbutic lesions in the remains of an Egyptian child dated 3800-3600 BCE [10]. Hippocrates describes symptoms of scorbutic gum problems in patients and Norwegian sagas place scurvy with the Vikings in Scandinavia around year 1000 [11, 12]. On June 10th, 1635, Ambrosius Rhodius defended his doctoral thesis on scurvy at the University of Copenhagen [11]. In his thesis, Dr. Rhodius referred to the Norwegian physician, Dr. Henrik Høyer, who reported cloudberries ("multebær") as effective against scurvy [11]; indeed, modern analyses have confirmed that cloudberries have a high vitC content [13, 14]. However, tribute for discovering a cure against scurvy did not go to Dr. Rhodius or Dr. Høyer. Instead, Dr. James Lind is credited for "A Treatise of the Scurvy", published in 1753, confirming citrus fruits as instrumental in the recovery of scorbutic sailors of The Royal Navy [15]. It was, however, not until 1932 that the active component was defined, when Dr. Albert Szent-Györgyi isolated 'hexuronic acid' (later renamed ascorbic acid), finally identifying the chemical formula of vitC and linking the small, water soluble molecule to anti-scorbutic effects [16, 17].

Only a small dose of vitC is required to prevent scurvy (10mg/day) and the disease is today considered rare. Reports are mainly of isolated cases and often imposed by pre-existing disease in the kidneys or gastrointestinal tract, or from reduced intake following nutrient sparsity or dietary preferences [18-21]. Symptoms vary in intensity and phenotype and include generalized fatigue, irritability and depressive like behaviour ("moodiness") progressing to pain in extremities and joints, petechial bleedings in the skin and gums, loose teeth and open wounds [21]. In this sense, scurvy represents the manifestation of a final collapse and breakdown of multiple organ systems rather than a defined diagnostic marker. Nevertheless, scurvy remains the only recognized clinical hallmark of vitC deficiency to date.

Recommendations for vitC intake in humans (Recommended Daily Intake, RDI) are primarily targeted to preventing scurvy and differ between countries ranging between 40-110 mg/day

for adults leading to plasma concentrations of 25-60 μ M [22-24]. Despite recommendations, vitC deficiency/hypovitaminosis C - defined as a plasma concentration below 23 μ M (<11 μ M denotes severe vitC deficiency)[25] - is estimated to affect up to 10% of the population in the Western world, with increased prevalence in some groups e.g. smokers, mothers-to-be and children [26-31](reviewed in [32, 33]). Large population studies have associated vitC deficiency with increased disease risk such as cardiovascular disease, cancer and metabolic diseases such as type 2 diabetes and fatty liver disease, however, besides scurvy diagnostic hallmarks of vitC deficiency have not been identified [34-36].

In the aspect of vitC, the brain is particularly interesting. The brain has high levels of vitC and is able to maintain levels up to 100-fold higher than other organs during deficiency, emphasizing a preference for vitC in the brain [37, 38]. Early symptoms of scurvy include unspecific mood disorders and depression, supporting a negative effect of progressing vitC deficiency on the brain. In addition, mice born devoid active vitC transport to the brain display cerebral bleedings and do not survive long after birth, demonstrating vitC depletion as detrimental to the brain and perinatal survival [39, 40]. VitC depletion (no intake of vitC) in weanling guinea pigs induced oxidative stress and DNA repair markers in the brain, supporting that the newborn brain is sensitive to reductions in vitC, possibly exacerbated by the high growth rate and relatively immature anti-oxidant system during early life [38, 41]. Thus, the brain constitutes a target organ for vitC and the young brain may be particularly vulnerable to states of deficiency. Putative effects on brain development and function may therefore represent an undetailed and unrecognized consequence of hypovitaminosis C also in humans.

2 Aims and hypotheses

The unique ability of preserving extraordinarily high vitC levels even when other organs are depleted supports a pivotal function in the brain. VitC depletion is lethal if left untreated, but clinical effects of non-scorbutic deficiency are not disclosed and could be particularly important in development where cells are growing and neuronal circuits formed.

Current recommendations are based mainly on preventing scurvy and do categorise degrees of deficiency though not linked to specific symptoms. Moreover, epidemiological studies have shown that hypovitaminosis C may be found in millions world-wide including children and mothers-to-be with little knowledge of potential effects.

Collectively, these apparent inconsistencies prompted my interest in vitC's function in the brain and particularly if vitC deficiency could lead to yet unrecognized impairments of brain development and function. The aim of this work has therefore been to investigate effects of non-scorbutic states of vitC deficiency on the developing brain and to explore if such effects are linked to vitC's role as an antioxidant or to more specific functions. For obvious ethical reasons the in vivo studies have been performed in an animal (guinea pig) model of vitC deficiency.

The main hypotheses were:

- Prenatal vitC deficiency compromises brain development [I;II;III]
- Deficiency-induced prenatal brain damage can be reverted by postnatal repletion [IV]
- Chronic vitC deficiency in early life impairs brain development and function [V;VI;VII;VII]
- The brain increases vitC transporters during deficiency [VIII;IX]

3 Vitamin C regulation in vivo

VitC uptake, distribution and excretion in the body is regulated by different transport mechanisms, which together with a cellular capacity for intracellular recycling leads to a very complex distribution profile [42]. In the sections below, the different mechanisms governing vitC homeostasis in the body - including the brain - are presented.

3.1 Cellular vitamin C uptake

In healthy individuals, the water soluble vitC is predominantly present as the ascorbate anion (ASC) with only a negligible proportion in the oxidized form as dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) [43]. As most cells effectively recycle ASC from DHA, both are generally considered contributors to the total vitC pool.

3.1.1 Ascorbic acid transport

The primary transport of vitC is achieved through active transport of ASC. It is governed by the membrane bound sodium dependent vitC co-transporters (SVCTs), enabling an up-concentration of ASC in cells and tissues through an energy demanding and sodium coupled co-transport [42, 44-46]. Though there are exceptions, e.g. erythrocytes and astrocytes, that do not express SVCTs and rely on simple diffusion of ASC and facilitated DHA diffusion [47, 48], SVCT-mediated transport is considered the predominant regulator of vitC transport in vivo. The SVCTs consists of two types, the SVCT1 and SVCT2 transporters (encoded by the *SLC23A1* and *2* genes, respectively), not uniformly present in tissues and cells [46, 49].

Based on distribution and chemical properties (affinity and capacity), the SVCT1 is considered the main transporter involved in intestinal uptake and renal re-uptake hereby regulating systemic vitC homeostasis, whereas the SVCT2 transporter governs the ASC transport from blood and extracellular fluids to tissues [42, 48, 50]. The SVCT-1 resides predominantly in epithelioid cells and is characterized by low affinity (Km of 65-252 uM) and high capacity (Vmax around 15 pmol/min/cell) transport, supporting the role as "bulktransporter" of ASC [44, 51, 52]. For example, the SVCT1 transporter is located on the apical side of the intestinal epithelia surface cells enabling ASC uptake from the gut luminal content and in kidney tubular epithelia permitting the re-uptake of ASC from the glomerular ultra-filtrate [46, 53].

The SVCT2 transporter is expressed in most cell types and has a higher affinity (Km of 8-69 uM) but lower capacity (Vmax around 1pmol/min/cell) compared to the SVCT1, supporting a

role in maintaining cellular ASC levels even when extracellular concentrations are low [44, 49, 54]. Two additional SVCTs have been characterized (SVCT3/*SLC23A3* and SVCT4/*SLC23A4*), but they have not been shown to be involved in vitC transport [55, 56]. For both SVCT1 and 2 single nucleotide polymorphisms have been identified potentially affecting transporter capacity; however data on the putative effects on vitC kinetics and the distribution of polymorphisms within populations is currently lacking [36, 57, 58].

3.1.2 Dehydroascorbic acid transport

Extracellular DHA levels maintains a concentration gradient across the cell membrane that enable passive diffusion from plasma and from the extracellular fluid to the cell [42]. Calculations of the recycling capacity of erythrocytes have estimated that the total amount of ASC in the blood stream can be recycled within 3 minutes, underlining an important role of red blood cells in maintaining circulating redox balance and - potentially - also serving as an ASC reservoir [59, 60]. Generally, the DHA concentration in the blood stream is much lower than that of ASC, and the contribution to the cellular vitC pool therefore often considered as largely negligible. However, in cases of increased DHA concentrations, for example during systemic oxidative stress and in states of inflammation, the contribution of DHA may be higher [45].

In the gastrointestinal lumen, however, passive DHA diffusion into surface epithelial cells may be a significant contributor to the vitC uptake. Many processed food items contain a relatively large content of DHA, and the lack of intracellular recycling within luminal contents can render DHA levels high compared to the amount of ASC available for intestinal uptake [42]. Interestingly, the potency of DHA as vitC source differs between species. In Osteogenic Disorder Shinogi rats (incapable of vitC synthesis) subjected to vitC depletion and subsequent scurvy, dietary supplementation with DHA provided only 10% of the vitC activity compared to ASC [61]. However, in healthy rats and mice with a normal vitC synthesis, the DHA recycling capacity in erythrocytes, liver and intestine was reduced compared to guinea pigs, which in turn, appear to have a comparable recycling capacity to what is reported in humans [59, 62, 63]. This highlights a species-dependent difference in the physiological regulation of cellular vitC. It could be speculated that in species with naturally inherited incapability of vitC synthesis - such as guinea pigs and humans - evolution has favoured mechanisms to take up and preserve vitC sources, as opposed to species with an endogenous vitC synthesis that are not at risk of developing fatal deficiency when resources are scarce [62].

In addition to simple diffusion across the cell membrane, DHA uptake occurs by facilitated diffusion through membrane bound glucose transporters (GLUT 1-4 and 8) present in several cell types in the body [64-68]. Some cells, such as erythrocytes and astrocytes, only

express GLUT transporters and therefore rely exclusively on DHA uptake as vitC source [47, 48]. DHA essentially competes with glucose in the GLUT-mediated transport, as illustrated by the effective block of DHA transport of GLUT 2 and 8, situated on the apical surface of intestinal epithelial cells, by high extracellular glucose concentrations [66]. Likewise, hyperglycemia reduces erythrocyte DHA content in vivo [69]. The subsequent intracellular reduction of DHA to ASC favours a continued DHA diffusion into the cell, however, does not allow for an active up-concentration of intracellular DHA levels.

Intracellular recycling constitutes a cornerstone in vitC homeostasis. Fulfilling the role as one of the most efficient low molecular weight antioxidants, ASC readily donates an electron to quench free radicals, consequently becoming oxidized and leading to DHA formation [43]. DHA can then either be recycled back to ASC or metabolized [48, 70-72] (figure 1). When extracellular DHA is absorbed to the cell it is immediately reduced to ASC, hereby promoting an equilibrium-driven DHA absorption. In this way, cellular concentrations of ASC and DHA can be balanced as long as the necessary reducing agents are available.



Figure 1. Schematic outline of ascorbic acid oxidation and nomenclature.

Ascorbate (ASC) readily quenches free radicals by donating an electron hereby forming the ascorbate free radical with a half-life ranging from 10⁻³ seconds to minutes. The ascorbate free radical can be reduced back to ASC or subjected to further oxidation and produce dehydroascorbic acid (DHA). In turn, DHA may be hydrolyzed, irreversibly altering the molecular structure to 2,3-diketogulonic acid with no vitamin C activity, and proceed to be metabolized and cleared [48]. Alternatively, DHA is reduced by glutathione (GSH) to form the ascorbate free radical and subsequently ASC, or even directly to ASC by enzymatic reaction [48, 70, 71] (Reproduced from[42]).

3.2 Cellular vitamin C efflux

Albeit essential in maintaining whole body homeostasis, the transport mechanisms of vitC out of cells is surprisingly undisclosed. The SVCT's appear to serve only as influx transporters and are not actively engaged in ASC efflux [73]. Passive diffusion is expected, however this route is only relevant for the <1% unionized ASC fraction at physiologically neutral pH [42]. In erythrocytes, intracellular reduction of DHA promotes ASC release but at a low rate of around 10% compared to the DHA uptake [74], and both hepatocytes and endothelial cells have been shown to release ASC in response to intracellular ASC accumulation at a faster rate than is permitted by simple diffusion [75, 76].

Thus, it seems that other routes of outward transport must take part in vitC regulation. This is also clear in view of a maximum plasma concentration occurring around 3 hours after an oral administration of 250 mg ascorbic acid in humans, unlikely to be achieved by simple diffusion across the basolateral membrane of intestinal epithelial cells and into the blood stream [77].

Membrane bound anion channels for ASC efflux have been suggested, however, their contribution to vitC homeostasis in vivo has not been determined [45, 73, 78]. Osmotic swelling of astrocytes in vitro induces ASC release, proposing osmoregulation and volume sensitive anion channels as a mechanism of providing extracellular ASC e.g. for uptake in neurons [45, 79]. Likewise, studies in cultured neuroblastoma cells suggest that anion channels are involved in neuronal ASC efflux in response to glutamate [80]. In vitro studies of human pericytes showed a significant (66%) ASC efflux in response to high (1mM) intracellular ASC concentrations within 2 hours of incubation [81]. This was not affected by inhibitors that target volume-gated anion channels, suggesting that pericyte efflux is due to other transport mechanisms. Interestingly, ASC efflux was counteracted by increased SVCT2 uptake underlining a cellular regulation of vitC transport and homeostasis [81]. The existence of one or more undisclosed vitC efflux-mechanisms is substantiated by the ability of certain cell types to secrete vitC in response to endogenous signalling, such as the rapid (within minutes) release by adrenal glands in response to an intravenous dose of adrenocorticotrophic hormone [82]. Additionally, ASC efflux in the brain is induced by the neurotransmitter glutamate, linking neuronal signal transduction to ASC efflux and vitC homeostasis [83, 84].

Collectively, these findings strongly support the presence of more than one mechanism to regulate ASC efflux, some with distinct tissue or cell specificity. However, though the release of intracellular ASC to the extracellular environment is indisputable, there are several unknown characteristics of the regulation of vitC homeostasis ultimately limiting our ability to predict and interpret results.

3.3 Vitamin C pharmacokinetics

Regulated primarily by membrane bound transporters, vitC uptake and excretion is a saturable process and follows a dose-dependent non-linear pharmacokinetic profile [42]. In healthy humans subjected to increasing doses of vitC, plasma concentrations plateau at 70-80µM (steady-state) at a daily intake of 200-300mg vitC [23, 24, 85]. Tissue levels (at steady state) range from 0.3mM in muscles and 1mM in the liver, and up to 10 times that in the brain neurons and adrenal glands, which have the highest levels in the body [42, 44, 86] (figure 2). When reviewing absolute quantities of vitC in the body, this should of course be relative to the total tissue mass; e.g. skeletal muscles constitute around one third of the human body [87], making this a larger ASC depot than e.g. the liver despite the livers' generally higher ASC level pr. gram tissue [48]. However, except for skeletal muscle vitC measurements from paired plasma and tissue samples in humans are rarely available, leaving current estimations to rely on extrapolation from circulating cells (i.e. erythrocytes, monocytes, leukocytes and neutrophils) or from animal models [23, 69, 85, 88-92].

The preferential up-concentration of vitC in tissues depends on the specific cell type (expression of transporters) and vitC concentration. In this aspect, the brain and adrenal glands distinguish themselves by the ability to maintain high vitC levels, even during chronic states of deficiency and depletion [37]. Data from guinea pigs show that vitC depletion (no vitC in the diet and leading to a pre-scorbutic state) reduced liver levels 60-100 fold to around 26 nmol/g tissue and kidney levels more than 50 fold to around 13 nmol/g tissue within 21 days [38][IX]. The brain, however, maintained vitC levels of 500-300 nmol/gram tissue (varying on brain region) corresponding to about 1/3 of non-depleted levels and despite a very low vitC plasma concentration of 1 μ M and only 3 μ M in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) [38][IX]. Though overall levels differ from those reported in guinea pigs, the ability to retain vitC in the brain during states of deficiency and depletion is conserved in *gulo*-⁷⁻ mice unable to synthesize vitC [93, 94]. A compromised vitC synthesis has also been shown in aldehyde reductase 1a deficient (*akr1a*^{-/-}) and senescence marker protein 30/glucolactonase knock-out (SMP30/GNL^{-/-}) mice strains, which are also applied in vitC research [95-97].

In guinea pigs subjected to different levels of dietary vitC saturation was achieved in most tissues by doses of 500mg vitC/kg feed and a plasma concentration of 40μ M (±17.6 SD)[88]. Notably, the dose-concentration curves for the brain and adrenal glands showed earlier saturation. Adrenal glands reached a plateau already at 250mgvitC/kg feed, and in the brain the frontal cortex and cerebellum reached a plateau at 150-250 mgvitC/kg feed and the hippocampus at 250-400 mgvitC/kg feed [88] (figure 2). Tissues and CSF vitC levels were positively correlated to plasma vitC concentrations, with correlation analyses showing a

13

strong positive relationship between plasma-liver and plasma-kidney (rho-values of 0.8-0.9), but weaker for adrenal glands and the investigated brain regions (rho-values of 0.46 and 0.6 respectively) [88]. The individual data points indicate that liver and kidney continue to reflect increasing plasma concentrations - though at a slower rate - whereas the brain and adrenal glands do not exhibit this to the same degree. Moreover, the brain and adrenal glands are readily repleted once a higher level of vitC is introduced, suggesting a high prioritization of these organs [42, 88][IV]. Together, this underlines the highly complex and differential distribution of vitC to tissues at different degrees of saturation. Importantly, the data also show that plasma concentrations alone do not directly predict tissue concentrations.



Figure 2. The distribution of vitamin C in the body.

Distribution of vitamin C (vitC) in vivo is highly differential. Some organs have concentration-dependent mechanisms for retention of vitamin C maintaining high levels during times of inadequate supply at the expense of other organs. In addition, the concentration-dependent absorption and re-absorption mechanisms contribute to the homeostatic control of vitC in the body. The brain upholds relatively high levels compared to other organs, with neurons displaying up to 10mM. Inserted graphs show the doseconcentration curves measured in guinea pigs subjected to different dietary vitC doses, with estimated curve fitting (Hill-equation); a) Liver b): Kidney and c) Brain with cortex, cerebellum and hippocampus levels depicted individually. In the brain, the hippocampus achieve saturation (A) at a higher dose, but with a smaller concentration maximum (Cmax), compared to cortex and cerebellum (B), illustrating a regional difference in vitC distribution within the brain. In the liver and kidney saturation is not as clear, suggesting a more direct reflection of the increasing plasma concentration compared to the brain. This supports that vitC transport to the brain is different from that of other organs, and allows for the brain to be favoured in vitC distribution. Moreover, the dose-concentration relationship underlines that accurate tissue levels of vitC are difficult to extrapolate from plasma levels. (Modified from [42, 88]).

4 Vitamin C transport to the brain

The brain has unique qualities in relation to vitC transport and distribution, with neurons displaying very high levels of vitC (up to 10mM) at plasma concentrations of $50-70\mu$ M [98, 99]. Moreover, the brain maintains impressively high vitC levels during deficiency, even when most other organs are depleted [38, 88]. Studies in guinea pigs show that during an absence of dietary vitC (depletion), the liver and kidneys are depleted within 3-4 weeks, levels dropping to less than 2% of control levels [38][IX]. The brain, however, maintains levels of around 25-30% (3-500nmol/g vitC) of controls even at a plasma concentration of 1µM and the appearance of early clinical symptoms of scurvy (weight stagnation) [38][IX]. Following a persistently low, but non-scorbutic, intake of vitC (100mgvitC/kg feed) leading to a plasma concentration of 4-5 μ M, the brain maintains levels between 100 -150 times higher than plasma, compared to a 15-20 fold increase when plasma concentrations are 70 μ M [88][IX]. Once higher plasma availability of vitC is re-introduced, the brain is readily repleted, suggesting a prioritized vitC transport to the brain [42][IV]. The ability to favour vitC levels even during prolonged states of vitC deficiency in the brain is conserved across age groups from early life to young, mature and old guinea pigs [38, 100, 101][II,III,IV,V,VI,IX]. This emphasizes a high prioritization of the brain and supports that vitC is pivotal in the brain through all life-phases. However, the mechanisms governing this preferential transport and retention of brain vitC levels remain incompletely understood.

4.1 Crossing the blood-brain barrier

With few exceptions, a molecule must pass through the blood-brain barrier (BBB) or through the choroid plexus into the CSF to reach the extracellular space and brain tissue, hereby forming a restrictive barrier for passage to the brain [102]. Brain capillaries compose the BBB, where tight junctions between endothelial cells limit inter-cellular transport from the blood stream. The choroid plexus' protrudes as villous structures into the brain ventricles and produces CSF by filtration through fenestrated capillaries, with tight junctions constituting the blood-CSF barrier on the apical side of the epithelia [103]. At their basis, the choroid epithelia connects to the ependymal cell layer lining the surface of the brain [103]. CSF is produced at a rate of around 0.4 ml/min and flows internally through the ventricles and central spinal cord, surrounding the external surface of the central nervous system (CNS) through the subarachnoid space [104]. This enables a continuous flow and exchangesystem, where CSF is generated in the choroid plexus and absorbed to the blood stream through drainage from the subarachnoid space to the cranial veins.

4.1.1 ASC transport

The primary transport of vitC to the brain is through the SVCT2 transporter, whereas the SVCT1 is absent [46, 52, 100, 105]. Studies in knock-out mice devoid of the SVCT2 transporter (*svct2*^{-/-} or *slc23a2*^{-/-}) have demonstrated an essential role of SVCT2-mediated vitC transport to the brain [39, 40]. Foetal development appears normal at term but offspring numbers are reduced. Levels of vitC in the brain and lungs are close to undetectable confirming the absence of SVCT2- transport, and once born pups die almost immediately showing cerebral bleedings in cortical surfaces and deeper brain structures, oxidative stress and apoptosis in the brain, but without signs of generalized scurvy [39, 40].

SVCT2 transporters are located in the choroid plexus endothelium and enables the active uptake of ASC from the blood stream [47, 106-108] and in vivo studies in mice have shown a rapid distribution of ¹⁴C-labelled vitC to the choroid plexus upon infusion [109]. In situ hybridization studies has confirmed the presence of SVCT2 in the choroid plexus, supported by in vitro culture studies showing an active and Na-dependent transport (Km of 67μ M) as main regulator of ASC uptake, consolidating the SVCT2 mediated transport in the choroid plexus [46, 110]. ASC then crosses the choroid epithelia through diffusion or efflux mechanisms to enter the CSF. SVCT2 immuno-reactivity has revealed expression in the ventricular ependymal cells and tanocytes, proposing this as a route of ASC transport from the CSF into the brain, however the extent of this transport has yet to be determined [107, 108] (figure 3).

4.1.2 DHA transport

The blood-brain barrier endothelia does not express SVTC2 transporters, but has membrane bound GLUT1-transporters that enable facilitated DHA diffusion [111-113] (figure 3). In the brain microvasculature, GLUT1 is expressed on the luminal side of endothelial cells with increased intensity adjacent to astrocyte processes [114]. A competitive system, DHA transport to the brain can dose-dependently be reduced by D-glucose [113]. However, with a Km of around 11mM for the blood-brain barrier mediated D-glucose transport, blood glucose levels beyond physiological levels of 5-7mM are required to block DHA transport in vivo [113, 115, 116]. The contribution of DHA transport across the BBB to the overall vitC status of the brain is likely negligible in healthy individuals, but it is possible that DHA transport to the brain may increase for example in cases of increased oxidation rates during disease [35, 117-119]. However, the extremely low vitC levels, induced brain damages and death of the *svct2*^{-/-} mice effectively underline that DHA transport to the brain in itself is insufficient to maintain adequate vitC levels during states of depletion [39, 40].

4.2 Inside the brain

4.2.1 Vitamin C transport to neurons

Neurons display some of the highest levels of vitC in the body, reaching up to 10mM at plasma concentrations of 50-70µM [98, 99] (figure 3). Neurons express both SVCT2 and GLUT-transporters, with the SVCT2 transporter considered to be the main source of vitC uptake. In vivo, SVCT2 expression appears mainly located to the soma but has also been shown to be extensively expressed in neuronal axons in vitro [46, 99, 108, 120-122]. SVCT2 expression differs between brain regions and is most intensive the cerebral cortex, the hippocampus, the dentate gyrus and the cerebellum [108]. VitC levels support SVCT2 as the primary neuronal ASC transporter, reflected by high vitC levels in cortex (frontal and parietal), cerebellum and the hippocampus in humans, rats, mice and guinea pigs, though absolute levels may differ between species [88, 93, 98, 123-125][IX]. Dose-concentration curves in guinea pigs show a higher Cmax in the cerebellum and frontal cortex compared to the hippocampus (1689, 1552 vs 1223 nmol/g), with saturation of the cerebellum and cortex at a doses of ~200 mg vitC/kg feed compared to the hippocampus (~300 mg vitC/kg feed) [88](figure 2). This illustrates that vitC transport to the brain is prioritized between regions and that the hippocampus may be less prioritized during long-term deficiency and perhaps more susceptible to negative consequences of a low vitC intake [88]. Cultured hippocampal neurons from svct2^{-/-} mice display reduced growth compared to controls, supporting the essential role of SVCT2 in neuronal development and function [122]. Surprisingly, vitC depletion and deficiency in vivo is not reflected by an upregulation of the mRNA expression of the SVCT2 transporter in brain tissue, implying that other mechanisms may be crucial in maintaining brain vitC levels [100, 126][VIII, IX].

In addition to the SVCT2 mediated ASC transport, neurons express GLUT-3 mainly in neuronal processes i.e. axonal terminals and dendrites in the neuropil in accordance with high-energy demands such as synaptic activity [47, 65, 114, 115, 127, 128]. Notably, DHA is potentially toxic to neurons, consuming reducing agents in the recycling process, and GLUT-mediated DHA uptake may therefore potentially exacerbate oxidative stress and associated cell damaging effects [129, 130]. GLUT-3 immunoreactivity shows a differential expression pattern in neonatal infants compared to adults, indicating a potential maturation of transporter mechanisms during development and maturation of the brain [127].

During embryonic development ASC levels differ between brain regions and over time (embryonic day (E) 15-18 in mice), likely due to increased requirements [126]. SVCT2 expression did not reflect increases in ASC in cortex and cerebellum in mice, but increased with developmental stage from around E13 (neurogenic period) toward the gliogenic period (E15-19) and also during early postnatal life [126, 131]. SVCT2 expression in the embryonic neuroepithelia of the ventricular and sub-ventricular zones, and in the embryonic choroid plexus cells, further supports that ASC transport to the CSF, and subsequently neuronal and glial precursor cells, is important for cellular differentiation during early development [120]. In developing mice SVCT2 mRNA and protein expression displayed an inverse expression pattern to ASC levels, with a marked postnatal increase in cortex and cerebellum suggesting changes in brain ASC requirements and SVCT2 distribution during development [126, 132]. In postnatal mice pups, the distribution of SVCT2 mRNA differed within cortical and cerebellar regions over time, proposedly due to the sequential maturation of neurons and synapses, and opposed to a more uniform distribution in the adult brain [132, 133].

4.2.2 Vitamin C transport to neuroglia

Non-neuronal cells/glia in the brain do not express SVCT2 in vivo and rely on GLUT-mediated DHA transport through GLUT-1, with astrocytes currently being the most investigated [106, 134, 135]. GLUT-1 expression is reported in astrocyte processes within the neuropil and in astrocyte foot-processes in close proximity to the vasculature [114, 128]. Astrocytes possess high reducing competences compared to neurons and DHA is rapidly reduced, enabling intracellular up-concentration of ASC with vitC levels reaching around 1mM [47, 99] (figure 3). The ability to accumulate high vitC levels by releasing DHA for GLUT-mediated uptake in neighbouring cells, subsequent reduction and ASC accumulation ("bystander effect") has been reported for other cell-types and proposed as a model for neuronal-glial interplay to regulate vitC homeostasis in the brain [112, 136, 137]. Through GLUT-1 mediated transport, astrocytes take up DHA, recycle it to ASC and sequestering ASC intracellularly for release to the extracellular matrix (ECM) and subsequent neuronal uptake. In this way, DHA is effectively recycled through cellular compartmentalisation placing astrocytes as an important ASC source [112]. How ASC is released from astrocytes to the ECM is not clear, but volume and ion regulated channel mechanisms as well as a potential coupling to the glutamate release and re-uptake exchange system have been proposed by in vitro studies [79, 83, 138, 139].

It is possible, that the astrocyte "ASC reservoir" can provide additional protection against oxidative damage to the brain. This could for example be in cases of neuronal hypoxia, allowing for fast uptake and recycling of excess DHA and -in turn- the release of ASC. Hypoxia induced SVCT2 protein in brain capillary endothelia [140, 141] and increased SVCT2 mRNA expression in neurons and in astrocytes surrounding core-lesions, underlining hypoxia as inducer of brain ASC transport mechanisms and suggesting that astrocytes may possess the ability induce ASC transport during hypoxic conditions [106, 134, 140, 141]. A recent study in rats link SVCT2 expression in astrocytes to induced reactive astrogliosis and,

20

potentially, to direct brain trauma proposing that astrocyte reactivity may induce changes in ASC transport at least in certain types of brain disease [142].



Figure 3. Overview of mechanisms of vitamin C uptake and recycling in the brain

Vitamin C (vitC) primarily enters the brain either by SVCT2-mediated ascorbate (ASC) transport through the epithelial cells on the luminal side of the choroid plexus to the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (1), or as dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) via glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) situated on the luminal side of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) endothelia (2). DHA may be recycled to ASC within the BBB-endothelial cells or released directly to the extracellular matrix. Passive diffusion of ASC and DHA may also occur, but is likely to constitute a minor part of the total vitC transport. Efflux mechanisms regulating vitC release at the apical side of choroid and BBB epithelia are yet unaccounted for. (3) Extracellular ASC mainly enters neurons through SVCT2 transporters. Intracellularly, ASC readily donates electrons and is consequently oxidized, leading to formation of the ascorbate free radical (AFR). AFR can dismutase and form ASC and DHA. DHA can then be recycled to ASC through reduction (e.g. by glutathione), be transported out of the neuron to the extracellular space e.g. by diffusion, or cleared (degraded). Neurons also possess GLUT3 transporters allowing for facilitated DHA. Together, these mechanisms enable the up-concentration of high intracellular ASC in neurons, reaching as much as 10μ M. ASC may be released from neurons proposedly in response to glutamate uptake. (4) Astrocytes do not express SVCT-transporters. Instead DHA is transported through GLUT1 transporters, and subsequently recycled to ASC maintaining a concentration gradient across the astrocyte plasma membrane and promoting the continued DHA uptake, and enabling the up-concentration of intracellular ASC. ASC can then be released from the astrocytes to the extracellular matrix for subsequent uptake to neurons. In this way, astrocytes can serve as an 'ASC- reservoir', and release ASC when required. This can be e.g. in conjunction with neuronal glutamate release, where glutamate uptake and clearance by astrocytes prompts the release of ASC, in turn preventing glutamate-induced excitoxic damage. AFR: Ascorbate free radical; ASC: Ascorbate; BBB: Blood brain barrier; CSF: Cerebrospinal fluid; DHA: dehydroascorbic acid; GLUT: glucose transporter; SVCT: sodium coupled vitamin C co-transporter; VitC: vitamin C.

5 Vitamin C function in the brain

VitC is one of the most efficient low molecular weight antioxidants in biological systems, and all known biological functions are associated to the reducing properties of ASC. Residing low in the one-electron reduction potential ("pecking order") of free radical reactions ASC readily donates reducing equivalents to quench free radicals, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS), or restore other anti-oxidants, such as vitamin E, while becoming oxidized in the process [43, 143-145]. Part of normal cellular metabolism ROS are kept at bay by enzymatic and anti-oxidant reductions, balancing this metabolic by-product to maintain redox homeostasis. If the balance is disturbed, for example by decreased anti-oxidant levels, ROS can accumulate to reach adverse levels generating oxidative stress that can damage cellular membranes, organelles and DNA, and ultimately have detrimental effects on cell function and survival. In addition to the unspecific antioxidant function, vitC has more specific functions for example by acting as co-factor in enzymatic reactions. The sections below provide an overview of main functions linked to vitC in the brain and which may consequently be susceptible to negative effects in case of vitC deficiency (figure 4).

5.1 Preventing oxidation of poly-unsaturated fatty acids

A key and generalized anti-oxidant function of ASC in the brain is to preserve membrane integrity and function by preventing ROS from inducing lipid peroxidation [43]. Low vitC directly increases lipid peroxidation even when other antioxidants (vitamin E and glutathione (GSH)) are present, demonstrating a central role of ASC in preventing oxidative damage to cell membranes [146, 147]. In this aspect, the brain may have increased sensitivity because of a high metabolic activity combined with high levels of long chained poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) prone to oxidation [148-150]. Due to an immature antioxidant system and high cellular growth rates, this may be even more important in the developing brain [41, 151].

PUFAs such as docosahexaenoic acid and arachidonic acid are the primary components of neuronal cellular membranes including neuronal synapses [150, 152, 153]. The composition and integrity of the pre- and postsynaptic membrane is central for neurotransmitter release, receptor binding and degradation, emphasising that dynamic regulation of the synaptosome lipid membranes is crucial for neuronal signalling (reviewed by [154]). PUFAs and PUFA-derivatives are also linked to neuronal signal transmission through the release of mono-amine neurotransmitters, gamma amino-butyric acid (GABA) and glutamate release and re-uptake [148, 155-157]. Inside the cell, ROS can react with membrane PUFAs yielding fatty

acid radicals, lipid peroxyl radicals and lipid peroxide - which can promote additional lipid peroxidation and establishing a self-propagating vicious circle. Oxidation fragmentizes PUFAs into smaller cytotoxic molecules (e.g. malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal and carboxyalkylpyrrol-protein adducts), damaging to the cell and cellular membranes, and associated with decreased neuronal function and neurodegenerative disorders [148, 158-161]. Specifically during brain development, PUFAs are also proposed to be important in the regulation of proliferation and survival of neuronal progenitors [162-164]. Severe vitC deficiency more than doubled MDA in weanling guinea pigs compared to non-deficient counterparts and in *svct2*^{-/-} mice pups F₂-isoprostanes and F₄-neuroprostanes (peroxidation products of arachidonic acid and docosahexaenoic acid, respectively) were significantly increased [38, 40]. In agreement, findings from *gulo*^{-/-} mice showed increased brain MDA levels reflecting decreased ASC levels and also indicated regional differences in brain lipid peroxidation [165]. This highlights the essential functions of PUFAs in the brain and supports ASC as a pivotal antioxidant preventing lipid peroxidation, safeguarding neuronal membrane integrity, function and survival.

5.2 Co-factor for Fe²⁺-2-oxogluterate-dependent dioxygenases

5.2.1 Collagen synthesis

The most well-known function of vitC is the role in collagen formation, enabling the assembly of triple helix collagen by acting as co-factor in the hydroxylation of collagen polypeptides by Fe²⁺-2-oxogluterate-dependent dioxygenases. ASC deficiency results in insufficient hydroxylation and subsequent release of procollagen instead of stable collagen [151, 166, 167]. The resulting dysfunctional collagen formation ultimately causes a collapse of collagen structures e.g. in vascular walls as reflected in the clinical hallmarks of scurvy with petechial bleedings in skin, gingiva and subperiosteally due to capillary frailty [19, 168-170]. Foetal *svct2*^{-/-} mice have decreased collagen IV levels in brain basement membranes, but increased levels in parietal endoderm cells, supporting that though cellular synthesis of pro-collagen is intact the secretion and assembly of mature collagen IV is not [40].

5.2.2 Hypoxia-inducible transcription factors

A role in Fe²⁺-2-oxogluterate-dependent dioxygenase hydroxylation also places ASC in the regulation of hypoxia-inducible transcription factors (HIFs), of which HIF1 α is most abundant [171, 172]. HIFs regulate the transcription of genes promoting angiogenesis, apoptosis and changes in cellular metabolism in response to decreasing oxygen tension [173, 174]. At physiologically normal oxygen levels HIF α -subunits are hydroxylated and destined for degradation, however, in the absence of oxygen hydroxylation is inhibited and HIF α -subunits are activated (stabilized and assembled)[173]. As ROS promotes HIF accumulation

ASC also plays an indirect role in HIF regulation through ROS quenching [175]. HIF1 α induced transcription has been linked to increased neuronal cell death and functional deficits following brain trauma and hypoxia-ischemia induced brain damage [176-178]. However, in less severe states of hypoxia HIF-activation leads to increased transcription of neuroprotective genes, such as erythropoietin and vascular endothelial growth factor [179, 180]. In the developing brain, hypoxia and subsequent HIF-activation modulate cellular metabolism, proliferation and angiogenesis, ensuring organogenesis and cellular differentiation [181, 182]. In this way, HIF-activation and subsequent transcription of target genes represents a 'double-edged sword' in which protective and destructive mechanisms can be induced, depending on the concourse and severity of hypoxia. In the event of vitC deficiency, it may be speculated that reduced availability of ASC in the brain decreases HIF degradation and increases ROS, hereby disturbing the balanced transcriptional regulation of potentially critical factors for normal brain development [41].

5.2.3 Epigentic regulation

VitC has been shown to be involved in the epigenetic regulation of cellular programming through the Fe²⁺-2-oxogluterate-dependent dioxygenases involved in histone demethylation and through the ten-eleven-translocation 1-3 (TET1-3) enzymes, which catalyses the hydroxylation of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine on DNA CpG-dinucleotides [183-185]. Data from human embryonic stem cells show that vitC, in contrast to other anti-oxidants, has the capacity to enhance TET-enzymatic activity and to alter DNA-methylation patterns promoting blastocyst characteristics [186]. In vivo studies of mice pups (embryonic day (E) 13.5) derived from vitC deficient *gulo^{-/-}* dams link vitC deficiency to aberrant TET1 activity and subsequently deviated DNA methylation patterns during germ cell development [187]. In addition, maternal VitC depletion reduced 5-hydroxymethylcytosine levels in embryonic brain and liver [187]. Likewise, vitC deficiency in SMP30/GNL^{-/-} offspring caused significant alterations in the DNA methylation status of investigated target genes in the liver [188].

Foetal midbrain stem cells from rats support ASC as key in the differentiation and transcription of genes characteristic of maturation (e.g. nuclear receptor related 1, *Nurr1*) of dopaminergic neurons in culture [189]. ASC increased 5-hydroxymethylcytosine positive cells as well as the production of tyrosine hydroxylase and dopamine in a dose-dependent manner, which was abolished by blockage of the SVCT2 transporter but also by blocking of TET1 [189]. This indicates that vitC is crucial for the development of a dopaminergic phenotype and that the transcriptional regulation is orchestrated - at least in part - through TET1 mediated methylation-patterns [189]. In addition, vitC has been shown to regulate

25

histone de-methylation (Histone H3 subunit with lysine 27 tri-methylation; H3K27m3) through an increased activity of Jumonji domain-containing protein D3 [189, 190].

Together, these findings propose and important role of vitC mediated cross-talk in methylation and demethylation patterns during embryonic development and neuronal differentiation, probably achieved through effects on TET-activity and histone demethylation. However, though not unlikely to play a regulatory role a direct association between vitC deficiency and disparities in DNA-methylation with consequences for brain development and function later in life has yet to be established. In addition, the concentration of ASC required to maintain normal TET and methylation-demethylation activity in vivo and how this translates to a daily vitC intake is currently not known.

5.2.4 Carnitine availability

Carnitine is supplied through the diet as well as synthesized in the liver, kidneys and the brain, where ASC functions as co-factor in two steps involving Fe²⁺-2-oxogluteratedependent dioxygenases (6-N-trimethyllysine dioxygenase and y-butyrobetaine dioxygenase)[191]. ASC deficiency has previously been linked to reduced carnitine synthesis in scorbutic guinea pigs [192, 193], however, it was later shown that increased carnitine excretion rather than reduced synthesis is the most likely cause of the reported reduced levels of carnitine during vitC deficiency [96, 194, 195]. Carnitine functions as transporter of long-chained fatty acids to the mitochondria, enabling mitochondrial β -oxidation and energy production, and at the same time reducing potentially toxic levels of intracellular fatty acids [191, 196, 197]. Disruption of 6-N-trimethyllysine dioxygenase or y-butyrobetaine dioxygenase activity can have serious consequences for brain development and, possibly, brain function in humans [197, 198]. In addition, carnitine supplementation has been shown to improve hypoxia induced brain oxidative stress and cognitive impairment in adult rats, and in neonatal rats carnitine decreased induced hypoxia/ischemic brain neuronal cell death, oxidative stress and expression of HIF1a [196, 199, 200]. Acetylated-L-carnitine improved motor- and cognitive outcomes in experimental models of neonatal hypoxia and traumatic brain injury, and decreased levels of acyl-carnitine has been reported in infants suffering from neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy, supporting carnitine to play a role in neuroprotection in the brain. [201-204].

In addition, muscle weakness, fatigue and a reluctance to move are hallmarks of scurvy [19]. This could potentially be due to a peripheral effect of decreased carnitine levels in striated muscles, supported by preliminary findings linking vitC deficiency in humans to decreased fatty acid oxidation and fatigue during moderate exercise [205]. VitC deficient guinea pigs did not display reduced motor competence in the Morris water maze, supporting that muscle lethargy was not the primary cause of the observed reduced performance [IV,V]. In

adult *akr1a^{-/-}* mice - possessing only 10% of ASC synthesizing capacity - long term vitC deficiency did not affect striated muscle fibre histology or Morris water maze performance, whereas in juvenile *akr1a^{-/-}* mice short term (1 week) low ASC was accompanied by reduced performance in the Morris water maze [95, 206]. Carnitine levels or muscle histology was not determined in the juvenile mice, but findings may indicate the behavioural response to low vitC levels can vary with onset and duration of deficiency [95]. A reduction in carnitine tissue levels and an increase in carnitine excretion was shown in scorbutic guinea pigs, however this was not detected in scorbutic mice (SMP30/GNL ^{-/-}) suggesting that the effects of vitC deficiency on carnitine may not be uniform between species [96].

5.3 Signal transduction

5.3.1 Monoaminergic neurotransmitters

VitC is linked to brain signalling through the regulation of mono-aminergic neurotransmission by acting as co-factor of dopamine- β -hydroxylase in the conversion of dopamine to nor-epinephrine, and in enhancing the synthesis of serotonin and catecholamine precursors by supplying reducing equivalents for the tetra-hydrobiopterin-mediated hydroxylation of tryptophan and tyrosine [207-210]. Alongside increased MDA and protein carbonyls in brain cortex, scorbutic *qulo^{-/-}* mice have reduced levels of dopamine and serotonin metabolites (3,4-dihydrophenylacetic acid (DOPAC), homovanilinic acid (HVA), 3-methoxytyramine (3-MT) and 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA)) [207]. The mice displayed reduced locomotor activity, grip strength and performance in maze-derived behavioural trials compared to wild type and vitC supplemented *qulo^{-/-}* controls. Differences in behaviour were abolished following vitC repletion, supporting a direct effect of vitC on neuronal signalling and subsequent function [207]. Young guinea pigs with long term (8 weeks) non-scorbutic vitC deficiency performed significantly poorer in the Morris water maze compared to controls, and displayed a rise in the 5-HIAA:5-Hydroxytryptamine ratio in the hippocampus indicating an imbalance of metabolites [V,VI]. The recorded changes in behaviour in vitC deficient groups, may therefore be linked to disruptions in catecholamine signalling.

5.3.2 Glutamate signalling

A concentration-dependent relationship between glutamate and ASC in striatum and hippocampal regions (cornu ammonis 1, 3 (CA1,3) and dentate gyrus (DG)) has been shown in vivo in rats, highlighting a dynamic interplay between glutamate signalling and ASC fluctuation in the brain with putative effects on behavioural responses [211-213]. Upon release, glutamate can be taken up by astrocytes and converted to glutamine, and in turn released for neuronal uptake [83, 214, 215]. The uptake of glutamate in astrocytes prompts ASC efflux possibly through induced cellular swelling and volume-sensitive anion channels,

releasing ASC e.g. to diminish glutamate-induced oxidative damage [79, 83]. Glutamate induced ASC efflux in cultured neuroblastoma cells support that glutamate uptake in neurons may also promote ASC efflux, likely through the involvement of volume-sensitive anion channels [80]. Failure to clear glutamate can induce neuronal excitotoxicity and oxidative damage through excessive stimulation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NDMA) receptor [122, 215, 216]. Glutamate excitotoxicity is associated with neuronal decay in hypoxia-ischemic injury in neonate animal models and likely also involved in hypoxia-induced brain damage in infants [217, 218]. Low brain ASC altered glutamate clearance and increased oxidative stress and sensitivity for seizure-induction as well as cognitive decline in mice models of Alzheimer's Disease (*svct2*^{+/-}-Amyloid precursor protein/ Presenelin 1 (APP/PSEN1) mice and *gulo*^{-/-}APP/PSEN1 mice), linking vitC deficiency to dysregulation of glutamate and concurrent functional consequences [215, 219].

Apart from a direct role in excitatory neurotransmission, glutamate is associated with development and maturation of the brain. Glutamate promotes neurogenesis by increasing proliferation of progenitor cells and indirectly by increasing growth factors such as brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and insulin derived growth factor 1 [220, 221]. In addition, glutamate-induced synaptic Ca²⁺ influx reduces dendritic outgrowths and increases synaptogenesis, hereby regulating neuronal growth and synaptic plasticity [221, 222].

In addition, ASC has also been linked to the modulation of the Gamma amino-butyric acid receptor subunit A (GABA_A)-receptor and subsequent potentiation of GABA_A-mediated signalling in the CNS [223, 224]. A role of ASC in ameliorating GABA and NMDA receptor dysregulation in depression has been suggested [224, 225]. Though vitC deficiency may well be a factor in depression, clinical studies are few and often differ significantly in experimental design, analytical methodology and outcome measures limiting comparison. A putative role of vitC in neuropsychiatric disorders has been reviewed in [226, 227].



Figure 4. Overview of potential targets of vitamin C deficiency in the brain.

Albeit functions have not yet been completely disclosed vitC is linked to several and different roles within the brain. Most well-known is the role in ensuring the hydroxylation and subsequent assembly of collagen in its triple helical structure. Failure to form functional collagen is seen during long term and severe vitC deficiency and leads to the break-down of connective tissue structures, e.g. in vascular walls, hallmarking scurvy. VitC is also linked to the formation of vasculature through hypoxia inducible factors (HIF). A lack of vitC may reduce hydroxylation and subsequently accumulation of HIF1 α leading to deviated angiogenesis. In addition, oxidative stress may activate HIFs hereby increasing levels further. Acting as co-factor in the regulation of methylation of nucleic acids, vitC deficiency is linked to alterations in DNA and histone methylation patterns and subsequent alterations in the epigenetic regulation of gene expression. VitC also acts as co-factor in carnitine synthesis and though most likely due to alterations in excretion, carnitine deficiency is associated with low vitC status and consequent reductions in mitochondrial fatty acid metabolism, compromising cellular energy metabolism. In turn, accumulating reactive oxygen species and oxidative stress in vitC deficiency may lead to peroxidation of cellular membrane lipids, compromising cellular function and viability. Directly associated with neurotransmitter synthesis, vitC is a co-factor in the hydroxylation of dopamine leading to norepinephrine, and provides reducing equivalents for tetra-hydrobiopterin necessary for the synthesis of dopamine and serotonin. Lastly, vitC deficiency reduces the re-uptake of extracellular glutamate, which in turn may lead to excitotoxic damage in the brain. Together, these functions of vitC highlights several likely effects of states of deficiency with putatively serious consequences for cellular health and brain function.
6 Effects of vitamin C deficiency on brain development

Malnutrition has been linked to negative effects in the brain and potential long-term consequences including reduced cognitive performance in children [228-231]. During embryogenesis and foetal development, signalling cues regulate events to proceed according to specific time-points at which a given process is initiated/completed. This makes specific cellular populations particularly vulnerable during these programmed events, and insults are often irreversible as induced damages to developing cells may compromise further progression [229]. Several nutritional deficiencies have been shown to affect CNS development, for example folic acid deficiency compromising neural tube formation, docosahexaenoic acid deficiency leading to reduced neuronal proliferation and synapse-formation, and iron deficiency decreasing myelin synthesis and hippocampal dendrite formation, leading to irreversible functional changes [231-236]. Timing of developmental events include pre- and postnatal time-points, but whereas insults during early development may induce lasting changes, insults later in postnatal life may be less critical as the brain at this stage may have developed mechanisms - such as synaptic plasticity - to compensate for or even revert induced damage [229].

As studies of brain development in humans are extremely limited due to obvious ethical issues, experimental animal models constitute an important - if not the only - source of data. In this aspect, the guinea pig has distinct qualities compared to other rodents as the placental nutrient transfer resembles that of humans and controls the nutritional supply to the foetus during the main period of brain growth and myelinisation [237-241]. Moreover, guinea pigs are born precocial and can be weaned at an early age allowing for independent interventions in young pups. A cautious comparison suggests that the brain neurogenesis in newborn guinea pigs resembles that of a 5 month old infant, and that total brain neurogenesis equivalent to a human newborn is reached around gestational day (GD) 50 in guinea pigs compared to postnatal day (PD) 10 in mice and rats [242, 243]. Importantly, extrapolating brain development stages from experimental models to humans must be viewed with significant translational limitations in mind.

6.1 Prenatal effects of vitamin C deficiency

The extensive cellular metabolic activity of the growing foetus induces high levels of ROS leading to oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation during pregnancy [244-246]. Combined with an immature anti-oxidative defence, this suggests that developing offspring may be

particularly sensitive to reductions in anti-oxidant supply hence vulnerable to adverse effects of vitC deficiency [41, 247].

6.1.1 Foetal vitamin C levels

During gestation, vitC is transported across the placenta from mother to offspring through SVCT2-mediated transport [39, 52, 248]. In humans and guinea pigs, the foetus depends exclusively on an exogenous (maternal) supply, whereas most other mammals begin vitC synthesis late in gestation - in mice and rats around day 18 [7]. As term approaches, maternal plasma concentrations decline while newborn infants display higher plasma vitC than their mothers [28, 249, 250]. This is also observed in guinea pigs, where newborn pups (PD7) show twice as high plasma ASC compared to dams [251]. At GD45, plasma ASC in foetal guinea pigs was almost 3 times that of maternal plasma (149 vs 46μ M), declining slightly towards term at GD56 (76 vs 39μ M; guinea pig term is around GD60-65)[I]. Brain ASC levels were also significantly higher at GD45 compared to GD56 and postnatal levels [251][I,II].

The high ASC level in the GD45 guinea pig brain coalesces with the peak of overall brain growth measured as brain weight increase relative to the adult brain weight ('the brain growth spurt') [252]. In humans, this occurs shortly before and in the first months after birth, whereas altricial species have a profound postnatal developmental phase; in mice and rats, the brain growth spurt peak is 1-2 weeks after birth [252]. The total brain weight is a crude method of developmental staging and does not directly reflect specific cell populations nor developmental key events such as glia formation, myelinisation, synapse formation and the sequential neurogenesis in brain areas and regions. Still, the brain growth spurt reflects a time-point in which the brain is at its highest expansion rate and may be more vulnerable to insults e.g. oxidative stress evoked damage [253].

6.1.2 Neuronal consequences

Weak capillary walls leading to petechial brain haemorrhages and subsequent loss of neuronal tissue in the cortex and brain stem is likely a primary cause of *svct2*^{-/-} mice dying immediately after birth [39, 40]. However, terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling (TUNEL) and isoketal positive staining was not limited to focal areas of bleeding, underlining that vitC depletion-induced lipid oxidation and apoptosis in the brain was not confined to areas of haemorrhagic hypoxia [40]. The very low brain ASC levels in *svct2*^{-/-} day 18.5-19.5 embryos reduced cortical dopamine, norepinephrine and tyrosine hydroxylase, with no apparent effect on serotonin metabolism [208]. *Svct2*-overexpression in mice embryos significantly increased cortical levels of dopamine, DOPAC, serotonin and 5-hydroxyindole acetic acid, confirming SVCT2 mediated ASC transport to the brain cortex as

instrumental in neurotransmitter synthesis during development [208]. In agreement, immuno-fluorescent quantification show marked decreases of tyrosine hydroxylase and 5-hydroxymethylation positive and decreases of H3K27m3 positive dopaminergic neurons from *svct2*^{-/-} mouse embryos compared to *svct2*^{+/-} and *svct2*^{+/+} counterparts, indicating a direct effect of vitC depletion on developing dopaminergic neurones and also in DNA- and histone-methylation status [189].

In newborn *gulo^{-/-}* pups with vitC depletion during the last 2 weeks of gestation, brain haemorrhages within the parenchyma were evident confirming weakening of brain capillaries [254]. In addition, lipid peroxidation and redox imbalance was recorded (increased MDA, 8-isoprostane and GSH:GSSG (oxidized glutathione)) and alterations in neuronal proliferation, maturation and cellular organization of the hippocampus and cerebellum was evident, e.g. increased staining of neuronal nuclei marker (NeuN) (and not glia marker (glia fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)) in the hippocampus, abnormal fissure formation and reduced dendrite formation of Purkinje cells in the cerebellum compared to controls. Expression of BDNF and glial derived neurotrophic factor was reduced in the brain, further supporting vitC deficiency-induced alterations in brain cell growth and structural development [254].

No difference at GD45 or 56 in hippocampal volume (both total and between subdivisions CA1-3 and DG) or β -tubulin isotype III staining in the *stratum lucidum* could be attributed to chronic vitC deficiency in guinea pigs [III]. However, brain MDA and oxidative stress marker superoxide dismutase (SOD) was increased confirming increased lipid perioxidation and redox imbalance with brain vitC levels of around 25-30% of controls [I,II]. In developing rat pups exposed to lead-induced toxicity in utero, ASC supplementation of dams (100mg/kg bodyweight) improved SOD levels and cerebellar Purkinje cell morphology, synaptophysin expression and axonal myelinisation, linking vitC to a protective effect on oxidative stress induced impaired neuronal development [255].

6.1.3 Effect of prenatal vitC deficiency on offspring growth

Svct2 knock-out (^{-/-}) decreased numbers of both ^{+/-} and ^{-/-} offspring, diverting from a Mendelian ratio [40]. In pregnant *gulo*^{-/-} mice vitC depletion significantly reduced numbers of live born pups, and in SMP30/GNL^{-/-} mice depletion led to low conception rates or early embryonic death, whereas deficiency (severe; tissue levels of around 10% of controls) increased perinatal deaths and severe organ malformations [254, 256]. Female mice embryos (E13.5) derived from vitC depleted *gulo*^{-/-} dams displayed aberrant TET1 activity and deviated DNA-demethylation in germ cell lines and reduced 5-hydroxymethylcytosine levels in embryonic brain and liver, suggesting that vitC deficiency can have a significant effect on TET1-associated embryonic DNA demethylation with negative consequences for

development [187]. Moreover, prenatal vitC depletion in resulted in reduced oocyte formation (PD7) and decreased fecundity in first generation mating in *gulo*^{-/-} mice, even though vitC supplementation was re-instated from E13.5 onwards [187].

In vitC deficient guinea pigs (non-scorbutic) dams, body weight gain was reduced but litter size did not differ from controls at GD45, 56 or live-born to term (GD60-65) [I,IV]. A significant reduction in placental and foetal body-weight at GD45, indicated compromised foetal growth at this particular time point [I]. Induced intrauterine growth restriction at midterm (-GD30) has been shown to reduce cerebellar volume and neuronal number, and volume, neuronal numbers, dendrite formation and branching in the hippocampus in guinea pig offspring [257-260]. Alterations in white matter volume and myelinisation in foetal guinea pigs subjected to intrauterine growth restriction has also been reported, but this appears to be restored at early adulthood [240, 261]. In addition, deficient dams maintained a low vitC plasma level throughout and offspring did not increase concentrations at term, hereby deviating from the normal, physiological concourse of foetal vitC distribution [251][I].

6.1.4 Clinical studies

In humans, vitC has been suggested to be protective of some types of neural tube defects, but data on potential negative effects of vitC deficiency on embryonic and foetal development are lacking [262, 263]. Reports from Brazil (n=127 and 117 enrolled participants) show that almost 30% of parturient mothers were vitC deficient with plasma concentrations below 22.7µM [28, 29, 264]. Habits of smoking and alcohol consumption significantly decreased vitC concentrations in umbilical cord samples, and a low maternal vitC status was reflected in breastfed infants [28, 264]. A larger Aberdeen cohort (n=1109) reported that 3% of enrolled women displayed vitC levels below 17µM in early pregnancy (≥20wks of gestation) and 4% at delivery, prevalence varying with smoking and educational status [249].

In a British cohort (n=963), a low vitC intake during early pregnancy was associated with a lower birth weight in newborn children, however circulating vitC levels were not reported preventing a direct correlation to plasma concentration [265, 266]. In agreement, a study in Korean women (n=217) showed an association between a low maternal serum vitC in the second trimester and decreased neonatal weight and body length in infants born to term; a 1µg/ml serum vitC increase leading to 0.17cm more in infant body-length, suggesting vitC as a key factor for optimal foetal growth [267]. This is supported by a recent report from The Korean Mothers and Children's Environmental Health (MOCEH) cohort (n=1138), in which a maternal diet low in vitC intake was found to be associated with decreased birth length and a reduced infant body weight from birth to 6 months of age [268].

In humans, intrauterine growth restriction and a low birth weight is linked to increased oxidative stress, neuro-inflammation, perinatal mortality and lasting deficits in learning and memory in children and adolescents [269-274]. In addition, low vitC during pregnancy is linked to increased preterm births, preeclampsia and increased placental apoptosis, however, reports of a beneficial effect of antioxidant supplementation on these outcomes are currently conflicting [266, 275-280]. None of the included studies reported any clinically evident symptoms of scurvy, underlining that low vitC levels go undetected.

Collectively, the above findings points to serious effects of prenatal vitC deficiency on developing offspring. These include reduced conception rates and reductions in foetal growth, likely reflecting consequences of a suboptimal nutrition during pregnancy. In the brain, the induced alterations progress with the severity of deficiency, vitC depletion leading to detrimental changes in the brain, whereas more moderate states of deficiency do not appear to induce the same degree of damage. However, putative functional consequences of a lack of sufficient vitC in utero will not be detected until after birth, and often not before some degree of motor- and cognitive development has been reached. At this point, damages may be irreversible and repletion prove futile.

Table 1: Prin	icipal findings of p	renatal vitamin C	deficiency – findings from experimental animal models.	
VITC	SPECIES/STRAIN	TIME-POINT	PRINCIPAL FINDINGS	REF
Depletion	Mice/svct2 ^{-/-}	E18.5-19.5	Neonatal deaths. Petechial bleedings on brain surface an in parenchyma, reflecting	[39];
(to the		Term	weakened capillary walls. Increased lipid peroxidation (isoketals). Neuronal apoptosis in	[40];
brain)			cerebral cortex and brain stem. Altered regulation of norepinephrine and dopamine, and	[208]
			reduced dopaminergic neurons (decreased tyrosine kinase positive neurons). Aberrant	
			DNA and histone methylation status.	
Depletion	Mice/gulo ^{-/-}	Term	Neonatal deaths. Petechial bleedings in brain parenchyma. Increased lipid peroxidation	[254]
			(MDA, 8-isoprostane), redox imbalance (increased GSH:GSSG and NO).Deviated structural	
			development in cerebral cortex, hippocampus and cerebellum. Reduced BDNF and GDNF.	
Deficiency	Mice/ <i>gulo^{-/-}</i>	Term (E20)	Increased lipid peroxidation (MDA) in cerebellum but not cortex.	[165]
Deficiency	Guinea	GD45	Increased lipid peroxidation (MDA) at GD 56 not 45. Redox imbalance marker (SOD) was	[III,IV]
	pig/Dunkin	and	increased in both GD45 and 56. No effect on hippocampal volume or eta -tubulin III in	
	Hartley	GD 56	hippocampal stratum lucidum. Transitional growth reduction reported for GD45.	
BDNF: Brain	derived neurotrop	hic factor; Deficie	icy: Low vitC supplementation Depletion: No vitC supplementation; E: Embryonic day	y; GD:
Gestational (day; GDNF: Glia de	rrived neurotrophi	factor; GSH: Glutathione; GSSG: Oxidized glutathione; MDA: Malondialdehyde; NO:	Nitric
oxide; SOD: 9	Superoxide dismut	ase.		

6.2 Postnatal effects of vitamin C deficiency

6.2.1 Perinatal period and early life

With the first breath of air, a newborn must adapt to extreme changes outside the womb's protective environment such as increased oxygen concentrations, the dependency on an oral nutrient supply, and extensive growth combined with high cellular energy demands leading to ROS formation. The yet immature anti-oxidant system renders newborns prone to redox imbalance potentially leading to free radical induced toxicity and subsequent cell damage [281, 282]. VitC is the primary antioxidant source in breastmilk and reflects maternal vitC status until saturation is reached, with mothers conveying a low vitC status to their infants [283-285]. A 1981 survey of Finnish parturient women (n=200) reported 6% to be vitC deficient (plasma vitC below 11.3μ M), and studies from the U.S. and Brazil have reported low vitC status/hypovitaminosis C (plasma vitC below 28.4 μ M or 22.7 μ M, respectively) in up to 25-30% of parturient women, suggesting that vitC deficiency is not uncommon during pregnancy [29, 285, 286]. The Korean Ewha Birth & Growth cohort reported an association between a maternal vitC level below the 75 percentile and a decreased infant growth extending from birth until 36 months of age, indicating that effects may extend well into postnatal life [287].

6.2.2 Lipid peroxidation

In weanling guinea pigs, vitC depletion more than doubled ascorbate oxidation ratio (ASC:DHA) and increased MDA and DNA-repair mechanisms compared to non-deficient counterparts [38]. Blocked ASC transport to the brain in newborn *svct2*^{-/-} mice pups increased levels of F₂-isoprostanes and F₄-neuroprostanes and underline PUFA peroxidation as a direct consequence of vitC deprivation to the brain [40, 288]. In newborn mice, brain ASC content decreases after birth and significantly pronounced decreases in deficient *gulo*^{-/-} pups [126, 165, 289]. Low ASC increased MDA levels in the cerebellum at PD10, whereas F₂-isoprostanes and GSH increased in cortex but not cerebellum at PD18, showing that lipid peroxidation differs between brain regions and over time [165].

Increased GSH was also reported at PD21 in whole brain homogenates of ASC deficient *gulo*^{-/-} pups with brain ASC of around 25-30% of wild-type controls, supporting a disrupted redox balance and suggesting GSH as a possible compensatory response to low brain ASC in newborns [289]. Newborn guinea pigs (PD2-7) subjected to persistent pre-and postnatal vitC deficiency did not exhibit any clinical signs of scurvy nor increased MDA, 8-F2-isoprostane or GSH in the brain cortex compared to non-deficient counterparts, even though brain vitC levels were reduced by 60% [251].

6.2.3 Changes in brain structure and function

However, prenatal vitC deficiency significantly reduced the volume of the hippocampus at PD10 compared to non-deficient controls regardless of postnatal vitC supplementation indicating irreversible effects on hippocampal morphology [IV]. Staining of hippocampal sections at PD10 and PD27 showed reduced cell proliferation in the granular layer, but an increase in proliferating cells in the subgranular zone at PD27, suggesting that postnatal cellular migration in hippocampal subdivisions was delayed due to prenatal vitC deficiency [IV]. The hippocampus of the newborn guinea pig is relatively well developed with ultrastructurally evident synapses and myelinated fibres [290]. Though the major part of cellular proliferation in the brain takes place prenatally in guinea pigs, the dentate gyrus granule cells continue to proliferate, particularly in the first postnatal weeks, contributing with an increase of around 20% in the granule cell number from PD1 to PD30 [291]. This resembles the developmental pattern reported for primates and humans, in which postnatal proliferation of the dentate gyrus granule cells occur mainly within the first months (primates) or first year (humans) of life [292-296].

In guinea pigs, prenatal exposure to vitC deficiency resulted in reduced hippocampal volume until PD70 even though vitC levels and brain MDA, GSH and ascorbate oxidation ratio were restored after birth, establishing that induced pre-or/and-perinatal damage persists at least until reproductive maturity [IV;VIII]. There was no reported effects on locomotion, and contrary to previously observed differences in spatial memory [V], the animals in this study mainly exhibited a random swim pattern in the Morris water maze irrespective of vitC status [IV]. Whereas a spatial swim pattern is directed mainly to the platform quadrant of the maze - reflecting the animals' ability to remember and apply visual cues - a random pattern is characterized by an absence of a preferred quadrant and does not target the platform area, hence animals do not appear to apply or remember spatial cues when placed in the maze. The absence of a spatial swim pattern in almost all animals of this study therefore prevented the subsequent evaluation of spatial memory competence and hippocampal function between experimental groups, unfortunately limiting any conclusions regarding the functional effects of prenatal vitC deficiency in this study [IV]. (A brief overview of main findings of vitC deficiency imposed postnatal effects is provided in tables 2 and 3).

6.2.4 Infants born preterm

A premature birth may exacerbate the challenges faced after birth and is associated with increased oxidative stress, peroxidation of PUFAs and risk of neurological impairments such as learning disabilities and reduced sensory and motor functions, highlighting the sensitivity of the newborn brain towards adverse levels of oxidative stress and the potential induction of long-term consequences [282, 297]. In addition, a lack of oxygen to the brain, e.g. due to

neonatal hypoxia and/or ischemia, can inflict serious consequences; increased sensitivity to hypoxia-induced damage has been shown in the brain cortex and thalamus with glutamate excitoxicity as a key inducer of neuronal damage in neonates [217, 218]. Interestingly, the distribution of injury differs between preterm and term newborns and emphasizes timing and developmental stage as pivotal in the concourse of induced and putatively damaging effects [218, 298-300].

Specifically for vitC, the physiological increase in foetal vitC towards term may not have been reached at delivery, leaving premature infants with a low vitC status. Baydas et al. reported significantly lower levels of vitC in umbilical cord blood from preterm compared to term infants though maternal vitC levels did not differ (mean plasma concentration around 70µM) [250]. Breastmilk from mothers giving birth preterm differ in some aspects of composition, but redox properties and vitC was found to be largely preserved, albeit decreasing with the degree of prematurity [301, 302].

Immaturity also compromise the intake and absorption of nutrients across the intestinal tract, in many cases leaving parenteral nutrition necessary. As parenteral nutrition is prone to spontaneous generation of peroxides when exposed to oxygen and ambient light, this constitutes a potential source of increased oxidative stress already at infusion, hereby unintentionally contributing to increase the oxidative stress burden on the already challenged infant [281, 303-305].

Unfortunately, vitC requirements of the preterm infant beyond avoiding scurvy are mainly unknown, rendering the assessment of 'sufficient' vitC contents in parenteral nutrition difficult. In addition, vitC transport mechanisms changes during development and may consequently reduce or alter absorption and distribution to cells in immature newborns further complicating translation between administered vitC and tissue levels [126, 306].

The highly oxidative environment, increased risk of infections and inflammatory diseases, compromised nutrition and a limited antioxidant defence places prematurely born infants in a self-propagating circle of potentially induced damage to the developing brain. Reduced hippocampal volume and reduced learning and memory ability was reported for 2-year old children born before week 32 of gestation [307]. A recent meta-analysis of the cognitive abilities in children born preterm disclose a significantly reduced IQ in children born very preterm (<32 weeks) compared to term counterparts [308]. Notably, though perinatal care had evolved and seemingly improved, the measured effects on cognitive outcomes had not improved across the 1990-2008 time-span [308].

Thus, the first part of life represents a period of dramatic change for the developing infant, also with regards to putative negative effects of vitC deficiency. Induced changes include

increased oxidative stress and lipid-peroxidation in the brain, however may not be a prerequisite for structural alterations. Infants born preterm represent a particularly vulnerable subgroup, in which antioxidant defences are reduced in combination with several additional factors that may exacerbate damaging effects on the perinatal brain.

6.3 Vitamin C deficiency in young life

Though uncommon compared to historic prevalence's scurvy is still encountered in young children, also in developed countries, for example due to restrictive eating habits or conditions [21]. Initial symptoms are diverse and unspecific (irritability, fatigue, reluctance to move), and signs may easily be overlooked or misinterpreted delaying diagnosis and subsequent treatment [19-21]. Though breastfeeding is recommended to continue until the age of two, most children ingest complementary food products from 6 months of age, becoming increasingly independent of breastfeeding as primary nutrient source [309, 310]. In humans, the first 2-3 years of life represent a time of extensive structural development and maturation of the brain, making this a period of increased sensitivity to insults and the "first 1000 days" of life an opportunity to reduce detrimental effects on the brain e.g. by ensuring that nutritional needs are met [252, 311-313].

6.3.1 Redox homeostasis

Young (PD18) vitC deficient gulo^{-/-} mice displayed increased brain GSH and F₂-isoprostanes, but not MDA in brain cortex [165]. In agreement, in weanling PD21 qulo^{-/-} mice, with brain ASC levels of around 30% of wild-type controls, GSH levels were increased, however at PD60 no difference in GSH could be recorded despite consistently low brain ASC levels [289]. Reports from severely vitC deficient and depleted adult *qulo-/-* mice show increased brain oxidative stress markers MDA, 8-isoprostanes and GSH (and increased GSH:GSSG) and induced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, with no observed alterations in brain histology or reductions in working spatial memory, but decreased motor competence [207, 254, 314]. In 30 days old SMP30/GNL^{-/-} mice, vitC depletion for 4 and 8 weeks (but not 2) significantly increased superoxide generation in ex vivo brain slices and stated findings of histologically evident cell death in the cerebellar cortex after 8 weeks of depletion (though data not shown) [315]. At 8 weeks of depletion animals displayed 30% reduction in bodyweight compared to controls, underlining the severity of depletion and the presence of a scorbutic state, hence findings should be interpreted with this in mind. Though strains and the degree of the imposed vitC deficiency vary between studies, the above findings may indicate age-related differences in the response to vitC deficiency and potential functional effects – for example increased lipidoxidation in older animals compared to newborns.

Severe vitC deficiency induced in 1 week old guinea pig pups for 11 weeks (plasma concentration of 2.2µM, resulting in a pre-scorbutic state) did not increase brain MDA or GSH levels, though vitC levels were less than one third of controls [VII]. Markers of synaptic plasticity in the frontal cortex, hippocampus or striatum did not differ with degree of vitC deficiency (moderate vs. severe deficiency) and dendrite morphology of hippocampal CA1

was not affected in severely deficient animals [VII]. Levels of neurotransmitters or spatial memory competence were not measured, preventing the assessment of functional effects.

In weanling guinea pigs subjected to vitC depletion after birth (PD2), brain MDA and SOD was increased, however the degree of deficiency was more severe and at an earlier timepoint in development, potentially contributing to increased sensitivity due to higher levels of brain growth, reduced antioxidant capacity following birth and general immaturity including the adaptation to independent nutrition [38, 291]. In this regard, the studies represent two different scenarios with very different outcomes; one leading to clinical scurvy and the other one remaining clinically undetectable, while both resulting in negative changes in the young brain.

The absence of induced redox imbalance may also reflect a species associated difference in response and/or compensatory mechanisms following vitC deficiency in mice vs. guinea pigs, possibly through evolutionary adaptation. Species-differences such as the effective use of DHA as vitC source and carnitine response during deficiency support that guinea pigs and humans have similar mechanisms for maintaining vitC homeostasis, whereas this may not be the case for vitC synthesizing species such as mice and rats [62, 96]. How this may affect vitC levels in the brain remains to be determined.

6.3.2 Changes in brain structure and function

In 1 week old guinea pigs, a chronic, non-scorbutic, vitC deficiency resulted in reduced spatial memory competence in the Morris water maze compared to controls at PD50 [V]. Stereological evaluation of the hippocampus revealed significantly less neurons in all three subdivisions (CA1, CA2-3 and dentate gyrus) linking postnatal vitC deficiency to reduced neuronal numbers and functional consequences in the brain [V]. Reflecting vitC intake, brain ASC levels were reduced to less than 50% and ascorbate oxidation ratio increased in deficient animals compared to controls. There was no apparent effect on SOD, GSH or MDA levels in the brain, proposing that the effects of deficiency could be due to mechanisms not directly associated with oxidative stress [V]. In agreement with an effect on more specific functions, reduced levels of synaptophysin and alterations in serotonin metabolites in the hippocampus of deficient animals suggested impaired neuronal signal transmission potentially exacerbating the consequences of the lower neuronal numbers [V].

In *gulo^{-/-}* mice subjected to chronic postnatal vitC deficiency, behavioural tests (PD60-100) disclosed slight reductions in locomotor ability, and no effect on hippocampal learning ability in the Morris water maze, however effect on long term spatial memory (retention test) was not assessed [289]. Alterations in pharmacologically induced functional responses supported an imbalance in the regulation of brain dopamine in vitC deficient animals [289].

In juvenile (4 week old) *akr1a^{-/-}* mice short term vitC depletion (1 week) impaired spatial memory, whereas this was not the case in chronically vitC deficient young adult *akr1a^{-/-}* mice (12-13 weeks of age) despite lower brain ASC levels in adults vs. juveniles [206]. This may indicate that the juvenile hippocampus requires increased vitC levels during development of functional neuronal circuits, but also that, in *akr1a^{-/-}* mice, the developing hippocampus may be able to compensate for the impaired spatial function over time. Notably, *akr1a^{-/-}* mice display several additional deficits besides the reduced ability to synthesize ASC, why findings should be interpreted with this in mind [95].

Despite extremely low ASC levels, scorbutic *gulo*^{-/-} mice were able to move voluntarily, indicating that the observed locomotor deficits were not caused exclusively by physical impairment and could include additional effects on neuronal signalling [207]. No differences in brain histology was reported, however metabolites of dopamine and serotonin increased in cortex whereas only 5-HIAA decreased in striatum, underlining differences in regional responses to severe vitC depletion [207]. Interestingly, social dominance behaviour was reduced during depletion - before clinical symptoms of scurvy - possibly reflecting a depressive like state, which did not improve once ASC supply was restored [207]. A brief overview of the main findings from experimental models is provided in table 2 and 3.

6.3.3 Vitamin C status in children

Reports of vitC status in children from different subpopulations and demographics are unfortunately scarce. The NHANES 2003-2004 (National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, U.S.) reported a vitC status below 28 μ M in almost 20% in the 6-19yrs old age group [27]. Compared to data from NHANESIII (1993-1994) the overall prevalence of vitC deficiency in children was reduced, likely illustrating an improvement in vitC status due to changes in eating habits [27]. Though a positive trend, the data emphasizes that a significant part of children and adolescents may suffer from hypovitaminosis C and therefore be at risk of experiencing negative consequences of vitC deficiency [27, 316]. Severe vitC deficiency (plasma <11.3 μ M) was reported for almost one third of 0-2 year old Mexican children, with a mean prevalence of 23% in children <12 years old (n=1815) [30]. General prevalence's of low vitC levels are increased in families of low socio-economic status and associated with risk factors such as smoking and obesity that are also associated with low socioeconomic status, highlighting that selected subgroups are likely to be at increased risk of a deficient vitC status [27, 30, 317].

Table 2: Prir	icipal findings of	postnatal vitamin	C deficiency in the brain – findings from murine models.	
VITC	STRAIN	TIME-POINT	PRINCIPAL FINDINGS	REF
Deficiency	gulo ^{-/-}	PD1	No reported change in lipid peroxidation	[165]
		PD10	Increased lipid peroxidation (MDA) in cerebellum, not cortex.	1
		PD18	Increased lipid peroxidation (F ₂ -isoprostanes) in cortex not cerebellum. Increased redox imbalance (GSH) in cortex. Possible increase in GFAP stained cells (astrocytes) albeit not quantified. No functional effects on locomotion, agility or strength was detected.	
Depleted	gulo ^{-/-}	PD21	Increased redox imbalance (GSH).	[289]
Deficient	I	PD60-100	No redox imbalance. Reduced locomotion but no effect on spatial learning (MWM). Spatial memory was not assessed. Enhanced response to dopaminergic agonist indicating deviated regulation of dopaminergic signalling.	
Depletion	gulo ^{-/-}	Young adults (20 gr)	Increased lipid peroxidation (MDA) and increased protein carbonyls in cortex. Decreased dopamine and serotonin metabolites in cortex and striatum. Locomotor deficits and reduced social dominance.	[207]
Depletion	gulo ^{-/-}	4 wks-8wks	Increased lipid peroxidation (MDA) in cortex, not cerebellum.	[126]
Deficiency	I	4 wks-8wks	Increased lipid peroxidation (MDA) in cortex, not cerebellum.	I
Deficient	gulo ^{-/-}	6 -18wks old	Increased F ₄ -neuroprostanes (also in vitC supplemented $gulo^{-1}$ counterparts). Reduced sensimotory competence, most significant in deficient $gulo^{-1}$. Memory and cognition was not affected.	[314]
Depletion (acute)	akr1 ^{.4-}	Juvenile (5wks old-1wk deplet.)	No apparent redox imbalance. No recorded changes in hippocampal histology (n=2). Reduced spatial memory competence. No effect on neurotransmitters (dopamine, norepinephrine, glutamic acid, GABA, acervacholine and selected metabolites).	[206]
Deficiency (long term)	1	Adult (12-13 wks)	No effect on spatial memory competence.	
Depletion	SMP30/GNL ^{-/-}	PD30- 2,4,8 wks depletion	4 and 8 wks depletion increased superoxide production ex vivo; reduced cells in cerebellar cortex after 8 wks depletion (though data not shown). No effect on SOD expression or activity.	[315]
Deficiency: l protein; GSF	Low vitC supplem 1: Glutathione; Mi	entation; Depletion DA: Malondialdehy	: No vitC supplementation; GABA: Gamma aminobutyric acid; GFAP: Glial fibrillary acidic de; PD: Postnatal day; SOD: Superoxide dismutase; wks: weeks.	

VITC	STRAIN	TIME-POINT	PRINCIPAL FINDINGS	REF
Depletion	D.Hartley	PD2-3 wks	Increased lipid peroxidation (MDA), increased protein carbonyls, induced DNA-base excision.	[38]
Severe	D.Hartley	PD7-11wks	No effects on the investigated hippocampal structures or synaptic plasticity markers and BDNF in	[11]
deficiency			cortex, hippocampus or striatum.	
Deficiency	I		No additionally apparent differences compared to severe deficiency	I
Pre-and	D.Hartley	PD2-7	No effect on lipid peroxidation (MDA, 8-F ₂ -isoprostane); GSH not different	[251]
postnatal deficiencv		PD10	Reduced hipoocampal volume and reduced proliferation in hippocampal granular layer.	[IV]
		PD27	Reduced hippocampal volume and increased proliferation in granular layer and subgranluar zone.	I
		PD70	Increased lipid peroxidation (MDA). Hippocampal volume reduction. Persistent decrease in	[IN,VIII]
			hippocampal volume despite vitC repletion after birth	
Deficiency	D.Hartley	PD7-9 wks	No effect on lipid peroxidation (MDA) or redox markers (SOD, GSH). Reduced neuron numbers in	[IV,V]
			hippocampus. Deviated serotonin metabolites and reduced synaptophysin. Reduced spatial memory	
			competence.	

Table 3: Principal findings of postnatal vitamin C deficiency in the brain – findings from guinea pigs.

BDNF: Brain derived neurotrophic factor; Deficiency: Low vitC supplementation; Depletion: No vitC supplementation; D. Hartley: Dunkin Hartley; GSH: Glutathione; MDA: Malondialdehyde; PD: Postnatal day; SOD: Superoxide dismutase; wks: weeks.

7 Potential challenges when evaluating clinical studies

According to the reported prevalence of vitC deficiency in the general population hypovitaminosis C may affect millions worldwide [32]. Moreover, vitC deficiency is likely more frequent during pregnancy and childhood, categorizing mothers-to-be and their children as subgroups of potentially increased risk of hypovitaminosis C or even severe deficiency.

Unfortunately, available reports of vitC status in newborns and children are few and most are decades old, and may therefore not adequately reflect current population status. Studies during pregnancy and in infants/children are further challenged by relatively low sample sizes reducing power and are sensitive to selection bias, e.g. by sampling only from patients admitted for increased monitoring (high risk groups) such as pregnancy-associated complications (reviewed in [318]). More substantial reports on vitC status are available from the general adult population, but updated and valid data from large scale investigations of vitC status are few [32]. Unfortunately, the principle of the design of an epidemiological survey limits conclusions of any causal relationship between an isolated factor - in this case vitC status - and concurrent disease, because additional factors are not controlled for [36]. This could for example be accompanying nutritional deficiencies, which could well affect outcome measures hereby confounding conclusions.

A general point of criticism in clinical studies is also that the integrity of findings may be hampered by flaws in study design. For example the absence of base-line vitC measurements and subsequent determination of vitC deficiency as a predefined inclusion criterion, is unfortunately often the case particularly in older reports [24, 319]. As increased vitC intake results in plasma saturation, supplementation of individuals already close to saturation will only lead to subtle effects at best. A lack of stratification for vitC status at inclusion may therefore mask the detection of potential benefits of supplementation in deficient groups. In addition, vitC transport may be subject to genetic variation, in turn affecting individual vitC levels and consequent responses to supplementation [57, 320]. Application of qualitative data of vitC ingestion collected through patient recollections and self-reporting of diet composition, can be prone to inaccuracies limiting the value of information [24, 321-323]. Moreover, clinical trials investigating putative effects of vitC supplementation often include combinations of antioxidants, commonly vitC and vitE, in variable dose-regimes and during different intervention periods complicating comparisons and preventing conclusions of isolated effects.

47

Lastly, differences in analytical methodology of vitC measurements can prevent meaningful comparisons between studies [33, 36]. Specifically for vitC, sample preparation is crucial to avoid spontaneous oxidation and subsequent ASC deterioration, consequently leading to faulty conclusions of low vitC levels [324, 325]. Other analytical methods may instead lead to overestimations of vitC in samples [324, 326]. These risks of wrongfully estimating vitC levels naturally have serious implications for data integrity and must be carefully addressed when designing novel studies.

Thus, while clearly showing that vitC supplementation is safe, the clinical literature has not provided much relevant information on the potential benefit of supplementation to vitC deficient children. Most countries recommend a surplus intake of vitC during pregnancy (10-20mg/day) and lactation (20-60 mg/day) to accommodate for increased maternal requirements [22]. For infants and young children, vitC reference intakes are commonly based on the estimated average vitC content and intake of breastmilk and approximated food content when applicable, whereas recommendations during childhood/adolescence are derived from the RDI for adults and adjusted for differences in body weight [22, 327]. VitC deficiency during pregnancy and in infants and children should therefore be prevented if the guidelines from health authorities are followed.

However, guidelines may not apply to or be followed by all. Children exposed to risk factors such as smoking or premature birth, or children in subgroups where vitC intake from fresh fruit and vegetables is low, e.g. in low income families or during seasonal changes, may potentially benefit from additional supplementation. In addition, single nucleotide polymorphisms of the SVCT-allele has been suggested to affect transport capacity and subsequently vitC homeostasis [58]. The functional effects and population prevalence of such SVCT-polymorphisms have not yet been established, but may render genotype as an important factor when identifying individuals of increased risk of vitC deficiency. Should this association prove to be true, a genotype-induced vitC deficiency could be explored in future study designs, in which individuals with SVCT-polymorphisms might provide insights on the isolated effects of a life-long state of vitC deficiency [36].

8 Concluding remarks

The guinea pig shares the almost unique dependency on exogenous vitC with humans, allowing for the induction of a diet-induced state of deficiency in a model species that - like humans - has adapted to the situation through evolution, as opposed to the genetically manipulated rodent models. Employing this particular model, the collective work of this thesis has disclosed a pivotal role of vitC in neuronal development and function and demonstrated that vitC deficiency can impair normal brain development.

In line with the lethal outcome of scurvy, depletion induced detrimental damage to brain cells and death. More importantly, non-scorbutic states of deficiency resulted in significant negative effects in the brain linking deficiency to aberrant neuronal formation and/or a disrupted regulation of neuronal signalling. The induced changes as shown in guinea pigs, confirms that long term non-scorbutic vitC deficiency can lead to structural changes in the hippocampus and consequent functional impairment. These effects may not be immediately apparent, but instead manifest later as the result of induced insults e.g. dysfunctional signalling leading to delay or decay in cellular development. In agreement, prenatal vitC deficiency in guinea pigs did not lead to alterations in hippocampal volume before birth, but caused significant volume reduction after birth and at least until reproductive maturity (PD70). Moreover, the induced damage could not be resolved by reinstating vitC supplementation after birth. Notably, even chronically low levels of vitC both during pregnancy and after birth did not cause symptoms of scurvy, emphasising that hypovitaminosis C is very likely to go unnoticed.

Insults affect the brain differently depending on the degree of vitC deficiency and the time of induction. However, mechanisms governing vitC homeostasis to and inside the brain are incompletely understood; efflux systems remain unaccounted for and deficiency does not seem to increase SVCT2 transporters in the brain, suggesting the presence of alternative transport systems. Together, the complexity of transport systems and intracellular recycling mechanisms complicates our ability to accurately extrapolate vitC plasma concentrations to tissue levels in animal models as well as in humans. The unique features of the guinea pig suggests that this animal model is superior to other rodent models of vitC deficiency, corroborating that findings may be of high translational value. However, to which degree the applied dose levels in guinea pigs can be translated to humans and how vitC deficiency may lead to functional consequences in the human brain remains difficult to predict. It is clear, however, that specific subgroups such as pregnant women, prematurely born children and families of low income and educational level are at increased risk of deficiency. A delayed or impaired brain development would be an additional challenge to already

vulnerable children, potentially limiting their ability to advance and reach their full learning potential.

To assess a putative effect of vitC supplementation on brain development in humans, randomized, controlled intervention studies targeting vitC deficient sub-populations are essentially required. However, studies of controlled foetal and childhood vitC deficiency with defined neurological end-points presents obvious ethical considerations preventing such trials from being conducted. This make findings from experimental animals crucial to advance our knowledge on the effects of hypovitaminosis C in brain development and function.

In this perspective, the discoveries made from vitC deficiency in guinea pigs has disclosed a yet unrecognized role of vitC in brain development, demonstrating that an otherwise clinically silent state of vitC deficiency can in fact inflict persistent damage. Should the reported findings be translatable to humans, this raises the question of how to best address vitC deficiency during pregnancy and childhood. Well-designed epidemiological studies may be an option to provide further knowledge on the relevance of the findings for human brain development. For now, attention could be paid to identify individuals at risk and ensure compliance with the nutritional recommendations of the authorities.

9 Summary in English

Severe and long-term vitamin C deficiency can lead to fatal scurvy, which is easily prevented and fortunately today considered rare. Surprisingly, a moderate state of vitamin C deficiency (hypovitaminosis C) - defined as a plasma concentration below 23μ M - is estimated to affect up to 10% of the population in the Western world. Large population surveys have associated vitamin C deficiency with increased risk of several multifactorial diseases in humans, but clinical hallmarks besides scurvy have not been linked to vitamin C deficiency. In this aspect, the brain represents an area of putative clinical importance.

The brain upholds a high vitamin C content and maintains uniquely high levels during deficiency, supporting vitamin C as an important component in the brain. Actions include both antioxidant and co-factor functions, rendering vitamin C deficiency likely to affect several targets in the brain. This could be particularly significant during development, where a high cellular metabolism and an immature anti-oxidant system might increase sensitivity to deficiency. However, though plausible, investigations of a link between a non-scorbutic state of vitamin C deficiency and effects on the developing young brain are scarce.

This thesis investigates the consequences of hypovitaminosis C in the brain during development through biochemical, molecular, histological and behavioural studies. Applying the guinea pig as in vivo model, the nine included manuscripts (I-IX) explore the effects of a diet-induced state of vitamin C deficiency on pre-and postnatal time-points (I - III; IV - VII), and whether deficiency improves the brain's ability to accumulate vitamin C at the expense of other body stores e.g. by increasing the expression of the brain's active transporter, sodium coupled vitamin C co-transporter 2 (VIII, IX).

The results show that prenatal hypovitaminosis C transiently compromise foetal growth and reduce postnatal hippocampal volume, despite vitamin C supplementation after birth, underlining that manifested alterations persist even when vitamin C levels are restored. Postnatal induction of deficiency results in reduced numbers of hippocampal neurons and impaired spatial memory, without any overt clinical symptoms of deficiency. The expression level of the primary transporter of reduced vitamin C in the brain did not change during deficiency, suggesting that other mechanisms of transport may take part in the regulation of brain vitamin C homeostasis.

The findings of this thesis have demonstrated that vitamin C deficiency can induce lasting effects in the young brain in guinea pigs despite an apparent absence of clinical symptoms. This highlights novel aspects of vitamin C's role in the brain and provide new knowledge into

the manifestations and potentially harmful effects of hypovitaminosis C. Consequently, the present work raises the concern of whether these effects may be relevant in humans. To determine this conclusively, controlled intervention studies in infants and children would be necessary. This would obviously be highly unethical and unrealistic, leaving studies in experimental animals pivotal. Regarding the available data on the incidence of vitamin C deficiency in humans, many of the epidemiological studies are decades old and unfortunately suffer from several limitations significantly reducing their scientific value.

This is particularly true for infants and children where studies are scarce and with low numbers of participants. Updated and well-designed studies are crucial to disclose the population prevalence and would be very valuable to identify subgroups at risk. Based on the obtained data and available information, an increased awareness of potential risks associated with hypovitaminosis C, and ensuring compliance with guidelines from health authorities particularly in high-risk groups would be a timely and relevant starting point.

10 Summary in Danish – Dansk resumé

Vedvarende og alvorlig mangel på C-vitamin kan føre til livstruende skørbug. Heldigvis forebygges skørbug nemt, og anses i dag for at forekomme sjældent. Derimod anslås en mere moderat tilstand af C-vitaminmangel (hypovitaminosis C) - defineret som en plasmakoncentration lavere end 23µM - til at andrage op til 10% af befolkningen i den vestlige del af verden. Store befolkningsundersøgelser har forbundet C-vitaminmangel med en øget risiko for at udvikle flere multifaktorielle sygdomme, men bortset fra skørbug er der endnu ingen kliniske kendetegn, der er forbundet med C-vitaminmangel. I den forbindelse udgør hjernen et særligt område af mulig klinisk relevans.

Hjernen har et relativt højt indhold af C-vitamin, og udmærker sig ved at opretholde høje niveauer af C-vitamin under mangeltilstande. Denne favorisering underbygger, at C-vitamin formodentlig har en vigtig funktion i hjernen. I celler fungerer C-vitamin både som antioxidant og som co-faktor i forskellige reaktioner, og derfor kan en mangeltilstand påvirke hjernen på flere og forskellige måder. Under udviklingen har hjernen en høj vækst og et øget cellulært stofskifte samtidig med et forholdsvist umodent antioxidantsystem, hvilket kan øge den unge hjernes følsomhed for netop C-vitaminmangel. Til trods for denne mulige sammenhæng, er indflydelsen af en ikke-skørbugsforvoldende tilstand af Cvitaminmangel på hjernens udvikling endnu ikke afdækket.

Ved hjælp af biokemiske, molekylærbiologiske, histologiske og adfærdsstudier undersøger denne disputats konsekvenserne af hypovitaminosis C på den unge hjerne. Ved at benytte marsvin som in vivo model, har de ni inkluderede manuskripter (I-IX) søgt at afdække effekterne af C-vitaminmangel på både præ-og postnatale tidspunkter i udviklingen (I-III; IV-VII) samt undersøgt, hvorvidt en mangeltilstand kan forbedre hjernens evne til at akkumulere C-vitamin - f.eks. ved at øge udtrykket af den aktive C-vitamintransporter (sodium coupled vitamin C co-transporter 2)(VIII,IX).

De opnåede resultater viser, at prænatal hypovitaminosis C nedsætter fostervægten forbigående, og medfører et lavere volumen af hjernens hippocampus postnatalt, til trods for reetablering af C-vitamintilskud umiddelbart efter fødslen. Postnatalt påbegyndt Cvitaminmangel giver anledning til markant færre neuroner i hippocampus og en nedsat spatial hukommelse, selvom kliniske symptomer på mangel ikke er tilstede. Udtrykket af hjernens transporter af reduceret C-vitamin påvirkes ikke af mangeltilstande, hvilket antyder, at andre transportmekanismer tager del i reguleringen af hjernens Cvitaminbalance. Sammenfattet viser denne disputats, at C-vitaminmangel i marsvin kan give anledning til vedvarende påvirkninger af den unge hjerne til trods for et fravær af sygdomstegn. Forskningsfundene har tilvejebragt ny viden om C-vitamins rolle i hjernen og har afdækket hidtil ukendte og potentielt skadevoldende manifestationer af hypovitaminosis C. Således giver resultaterne anledning til at overveje, hvorvidt disse effekter også har relevans for mennesker. For at undersøge dette vil kontrollerede interventionsforsøg med nyfødte og børn være nødvendige, hvilket er åbenlyst etisk uforsvarligt og naturligvis urealistisk. Derfor er studier i dyremodeller i denne forbindelse helt afgørende.

Meget af det eksisterende data, der belyser forekomsten af C-vitaminmangel i mennesker, er desværre mere end 10 år gammelt. Endvidere har adskillige af de epidemiologiske undersøgelser fejl og mangler, der nedsætter den videnskabelige værdi betydeligt. Dette gælder også undersøgelser af C-vitaminstatus hos nyfødte og børn, der udover at være yderst få, ofte har et meget begrænset antal deltagere og dermed ikke kan forventes at give et retvisende billede af C-vitaminmangels udbredelse. Hvis forekomsten af C-vitaminmangel skal afdækkes, er opdaterede og veludførte studier afgørende også for at kunne identificere eventuelle grupper, der måtte være i særlig risiko for C-vitaminmangel. Baseret på de tilvejebragte forskningsfund, kunne der til en start rettes en øget opmærksomhed mod de mulige negative konsekvenser af C-vitaminmangel og mod at sikre, at sundhedsmyndighedernes anbefalinger overholdes - særligt i udsatte befolkningsgrupper.

11 References

- 1. Burns J: Missing step in man, monkey and guinea pig required for the biosynthesis of L-ascorbic acid. *Nature* 1957, **180**(4585):553-553.
- 2. Pauling L: Evolution and the need for ascorbic acid. *ProcNatlAcadSciUSA* 1970, 67(4):1643-1648.
- Chatterjee IB: Evolution and the biosynthesis of ascorbic acid. Science 1973, 182(118):1271-1272.
- Chaudhuri CR, Chatterjee I: L-ascorbic acid synthesis in birds: phylogenetic trend. Science 1969, 164(3878):435-436.
- 5. Birney EC, Jennes R, Ayaz KM: Inability of bats to synthesise L-ascorbic acid. *Nature* 1976, 260(5552):626-628.
- Lachapelle MY, Drouin G: Inactivation dates of the human and guinea pig vitamin C genes.
 Genetica 2011, 139(2):199-207.
- 7. Jenness R, Birney EC, Ayaz KL, Buzzell DM: **Ontogenetic development of L-gulonolactone oxidase** activity in several vertebrates. *CompBiochemPhysiol B, CompBiochem* 1984, **78**(1):167-173.
- Nishikimi M, Fukuyama R, Minoshima S, Shimizu N, Yagi K: Cloning and chromosomal mapping of the human nonfunctional gene for L-gulono-gamma-lactone oxidase, the enzyme for Lascorbic acid biosynthesis missing in man. *JBiolChem* 1994, 269(18):13685-13688.
- 9. Nishikimi M, Kawai T, Yagi K: Guinea pigs possess a highly mutated gene for L-gulono-gammalactone oxidase, the key enzyme for L-ascorbic acid biosynthesis missing in this species. *J Biol Chem* 1992, **267**(30):21967-21972.
- 10. Pitre MC, Stark RJ, Gatto MC: First probable case of scurvy in ancient Egypt at Nag el-Qarmila, Aswan. *IntJpaleopathol* 2016, **13**:11-19.
- 11. De Luca LM, Norum KR: Scurvy and cloudberries: a chapter in the history of nutritional sciences. JNutr 2011, 141(12):2101-2105.
- 12. Fain O: Musculoskeletal manifestations of scurvy. *Joint Bone Spine* 2005, **72**(2):124-128.
- Halvorsen BL, Holte K, Myhrstad MC, Barikmo I, Hvattum E, Remberg SF, Wold A-B, Haffner K, Baugerød H, Andersen LF: A systematic screening of total antioxidants in dietary plants. JNutr 2002, 132(3):461-471.
- 14. Nordnes T, Werenskiold BQ: **The variation of the ascorbic acid content in raw and preserved cloudberries, Rubus chamaemorus L**. *Food Research* 1952, **17**:117-122.
- 15. Carpenter KJ: The discovery of vitamin C. AnnNutrMetab 2012, 61(3):259-264.
- 16. Svirbely JL, Szent-Györgyi A: The chemical nature of vitamin C. *BiochemJ* 1932, 26(3):865-870.
- Szent-Györgyi Av, Haworth WN: 'Hexuronic Acid" (Ascorbic Acid) as the Antiscorbutic Factor. Nature 1933, 131(3297):24-24.
- 18. Baradhi KM, Vallabhaneni S, Koya S: **Scurvy in 2017 in the USA**. In: *Baylor University Medical Center Proceedings: 2018*. Taylor & Francis: 227-228.
- Weinstein M, Babyn P, Zlotkin S: An orange a day keeps the doctor away: scurvy in the year
 2000. Pediatrics 2001, 108(3):E55.
- 20. Agarwal A, Shaharyar A, Kumar A, Bhat MS, Mishra M: Scurvy in pediatric age group A disease often forgotten? *J Clin Orthop Trauma* 2015, 6(2):101-107.

- Popovich D, McAlhany A, Adewumi AO, Barnes MM: Scurvy: Forgotten But Definitely Not Gone. JPedHealthCare 2009, 23(6):405-415.
- 22. Carr AC, Lykkesfeldt J: Discrepancies in global vitamin C recommendations: a review of RDA criteria and underlying health perspectives. *CritRevFoodSciNutr* 2020:1-14.
- Levine M, Conry-Cantilena C, Wang Y, Welch RW, Washko PW, Dhariwal KR, Park JB, Lazarev A, Graumlich JF, King J *et al*: Vitamin C pharmacokinetics in healthy volunteers: evidence for a recommended dietary allowance. *ProcNatlAcadSciUSA* 1996, **93**(8):3704-3709.
- 24. Frei B, Birlouez-Aragon I, Lykkesfeldt J: **Authors' perspective: what is the optimum intake of** vitamin C in humans? *CritRevFoodSciNutr* 2012, **52**(9):815-829.
- 25. Smith JL, Hodges RE: Serum Levels of Vitamin-C in Relation to Dietary and Supplemental Intake of Vitamin-C in Smokers and Nonsmokers. *AnnNYAcadSci* 1987, **498**:144-152.
- 26. Lykkesfeldt J: **Smoking depletes vitamin C: Should smokers be recommended to take supplements?** In: *Cigarette smoke and oxidative stress*. Edited by Halliwell B, Poulsen HE: Springer Verlag; 2006: 237-260.
- 27. Schleicher RL, Carroll MD, Ford ES, Lacher DA: Serum vitamin C and the prevalence of vitamin C deficiency in the United States: 2003-2004 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). *AmJClinNutr* 2009, **90**(5):1252-1263.
- Madruga de OA, Rondo PH, Barros SB: Concentrations of ascorbic acid in the plasma of pregnant smokers and nonsmokers and their newborns. *IntJVitamNutrRes* 2004, 74(3):193-198.
- 29. Madruga de OA, Rondo PH, Mastroeni SS, Oliveira JM: **Plasma concentrations of ascorbic acid in** parturients from a hospital in Southeast Brazil. *ClinNutr* 2008, **27**(2):228-232.
- Villalpando S, Montalvo-Velarde I, Zambrano N, Garcia-Guerra A, Ramirez-Silva CI, Shamah-Levy T, Rivera JA: Vitamins A, and C and folate status in Mexican children under 12 years and women 12-49 years: a probabilistic national survey. *SaludPublicaMex* 2003, 45 Suppl 4:S508-S519.
- Ma A-GMD, Schouten EGMD, Wang YMD, Xu R-XMD, Zheng M-CMD, Li Y, Wang QMM, Sun YMM: Micronutrient status in anemic and non-anemic Chinese women in the third trimester of pregnancy. AsiaPacifJClinNutr 2009, 18(1):41-47.
- Rowe S, Carr AC: Global Vitamin C Status and Prevalence of Deficiency: A Cause for Concern? Nutrients 2020, 12(7):2008.
- Carr AC, Rowe S: Factors Affecting Vitamin C Status and Prevalence of Deficiency: A Global Health Perspective Nutrients 2020, 12(7):1963.
- Ipsen DH, Tveden-Nyborg P, Lykkesfeldt J: Does vitamin C deficiency promote fatty liver disease development? Nutrients 2014, 6(12):5473-5499.
- Tveden-Nyborg P, Lykkesfeldt J: Does vitamin C deficiency increase lifestyle-associated vascular disease progression? - Evidence based on experimental and clinical studies. *AntioxidRedoxSignal* 2013, **19**(17):2084-2104.
- 36. Lykkesfeldt J: On the effect of vitamin C intake on human health: How to (mis) interprete the clinical evidence. *Redox Biology* 2020:101532.
- Rice ME, Forman RE, Chen BT, Avshalumov MV, Cragg SJ, Drew KL: Brain antioxidant regulation in mammals and anoxia-tolerant reptiles: balanced for neuroprotection and neuromodulation. *Comp BiochemPhysiol CToxicolPharmacol* 2002, 133(4):515-525.

- Lykkesfeldt J, Trueba GP, Poulsen HE, Christen S: Vitamin C deficiency in weanling guinea pigs: differential expression of oxidative stress and DNA repair in liver and brain. *BrJNutr* 2007, 98(6):1116-1119.
- Sotiriou S, Gispert S, Cheng J, Wang YH, Chen A, Hoogstraten-Miller S, Miller GF, Kwon O, Levine M, Guttentag SH *et al*: Ascorbic-acid transporter Slc23a1 is essential for vitamin C transport into the brain and for perinatal survival. *NatMed* 2002, 8(5):514-517.
- 40. Harrison FE, Dawes SM, Meredith ME, Babaev VR, Li L, May JM: Low vitamin C and increased oxidative stress and cell death in mice that lack the sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter SVCT2. *Free RadicBiolMed* 2010, **49**(5):821-829.
- 41. Tveden-Nyborg P, Lykkesfeldt J: **Does vitamin C deficiency result in impaired brain development in infants?** *RedoxRep* 2009, **14**(1):2-6.
- Lykkesfeldt J, Tveden-Nyborg P: The Pharmacokinetics of Vitamin C. Nutrients 2019, 11(10):2412.
- 43. Buettner GR: The pecking order of free radicals and antioxidants: lipid peroxidation, alphatocopherol, and ascorbate. *ArchBiochemBiophys* 1993, **300**(2):535-543.
- 44. Lindblad M, Tveden-Nyborg P, Lykkesfeldt J: **Regulation of vitamin C homeostasis during** deficiency. *Nutrients* 2013, **5**(8):2860-2879.
- 45. Wilson JX: **Regulation of vitamin C transport**. *AnnuRevNutr* 2005, **25**:105-125.
- Tsukaguchi H, Tokui T, Mackenzie B, Berger UV, Chen XZ, Wang Y, Brubaker RF, Hediger MA: A family of mammalian Na+-dependent L-ascorbic acid transporters. *Nature* 1999, 399(6731):70-75.
- 47. Hediger MA: New view at C. NatMed 2002, 8(5):445-446.
- 48. Padayatty S, Levine M: Vitamin C: the known and the unknown and Goldilocks. Oral Diseases 2016, 22(6):463-493.
- Savini I, Rossi A, Pierro C, Avigliano L, Catani MV: SVCT1 and SVCT2: key proteins for vitamin C uptake. *AminoAcids* 2008, 34(3):347-355.
- 50. May JM: The SLC23 family of ascorbate transporters: ensuring that you get and keep your daily dose of vitamin C. *BrJPharmacol* 2011, **164**(7):1793-1801.
- Daruwala R, Song J, Koh WS, Rumsey SC, Levine M: Cloning and functional characterization of the human sodium-dependent vitamin C transporters hSVCT1 and hSVCT2. FEBS Lett 1999, 460(3):480-484.
- Wang Y, Mackenzie B, Tsukaguchi H, Weremowicz S, Morton CC, Hediger MA: Human vitamin C (L-ascorbic acid) transporter SVCT1. *BiochemBiophysResCommun* 2000, 267(2):488-494.
- 53. Boyer JC, Campbell CE, Sigurdson WJ, Kuo SM: **Polarized localization of vitamin C transporters**, SVCT1 and SVCT2, in epithelial cells. *BiochemBiophysResCommun* 2005, **334**(1):150-156.
- 54. Godoy A, Ormazabal V, Moraga-Cid G, Zuniga FA, Sotomayor P, Barra V, Vasquez O, Montecinos V, Mardones L, Guzman C *et al*: Mechanistic insights and functional determinants of the transport cycle of the ascorbic acid transporter SVCT2. Activation by sodium and absolute dependence on bivalent cations. *JBiolChem* 2007, 282(1):615-624.
- Yamamoto S, Inoue K, Murata T, Kamigaso S, Yasujima T, Maeda J-y, Yoshida Y, Ohta K-y, Yuasa
 H: Identification and Functional Characterization of the First Nucleobase Transporter in
 Mammals Implication in the Species Difference in the Intestinal Absorption Mechanism of

Nucleobases and their Analogs Between Higher Primates and Other Mammals. *JBiolChem* 2010, **285**(9):6522-6531.

- Bürzle M, Suzuki Y, Ackermann D, Miyazaki H, Maeda N, Clémençon B, Burrier R, Hediger MA: The sodium-dependent ascorbic acid transporter family SLC23. *MolAspMed* 2013, 34(2):436-454.
- 57. Michels AJ, Hagen TM, Frei B: Human genetic variation influences vitamin C homeostasis by altering vitamin C transport and antioxidant enzyme function. *AnnuRevNutr* 2013, **33**:45-70.
- 58. Corpe CP, Tu H, Eck P, Wang J, Faulhaber-Walter R, Schnermann J, Margolis S, Padayatty S, Sun H, Wang Y et al: Vitamin C transporter Slc23a1 links renal reabsorption, vitamin C tissue accumulation, and perinatal survival in mice. *JClinInvest* 2010, **120**(4):1069-1083.
- 59. Lykkesfeldt J: Increased oxidative damage in vitamin C deficiency is accompanied by induction of ascorbic acid recycling capacity in young but not mature guinea pigs. *Free RadicRes* 2002, 36(5):567-574.
- 60. May JM, Qu Z-C, Whitesell RR, Cobb CE: Ascorbate recycling in human erythrocytes: role of GSH in reducing dehydroascorbate. *Free RadicBiolMed* 1996, **20**(4):543-551.
- 61. Ogiri Y, Sun F, Hayami S, Fujimura A, Yamamoto K, Yaita M, Kojo S: Very low vitamin C activity of orally administered L-dehydroascorbic acid. *J AgriculFoodChem* 2002, **50**(1):227-229.
- 62. Frikke-Schmidt H, Tveden-Nyborg P, Lykkesfeldt J: L-dehydroascorbic acid can substitute lascorbic acid as dietary vitamin C source in guinea pigs. *RedoxBiol* 2016, **7**:8-13.
- 63. May JM, Qu Z-c, Whitesell RR: Ascorbic acid recycling enhances the antioxidant reserve of human erythrocytes. *Biochemistry* 1995, **34**(39):12721-12728.
- Rumsey SC, Daruwala R, Al-Hasani H, Zarnowski MJ, Simpson IA, Levine M: Dehydroascorbic Acid Transport by GLUT4 in XenopusOocytes and Isolated Rat Adipocytes. JBiolChem 2000, 275(36):28246-28253.
- Rumsey SC, Kwon O, Xu GW, Burant CF, Simpson I, Levine M: Glucose transporter isoforms
 GLUT1 and GLUT3 transport dehydroascorbic acid. *JBiolChem* 1997, 272(30):18982-18989.
- 66. Corpe CP, Eck P, Wang J, Al-Hasani H, Levine M: Intestinal dehydroascorbic acid (DHA) transport mediated by the facilitative sugar transporters, GLUT2 and GLUT8. *JBiolChem* 2013, 288(13):9092-9101.
- 67. Korcok J, Dixon SJ, Lo TC, Wilson JX: Differential effects of glucose on dehydroascorbic acid transport and intracellular ascorbate accumulation in astrocytes and skeletal myocytes. Brain Res 2003, 993(1-2):201-207.
- Malo C, Wilson J: Glucose modulates vitamin C transport in adult human small intestinal brush border membrane vesicles. JNutr 2000, 130(1):63-69.
- 69. Tu H, Li H, Wang Y, Niyyati M, Wang Y, Leshin J, Levine M: Low red blood cell vitamin C concentrations induce red blood cell fragility: A link to diabetes via glucose, glucose transporters, and dehydroascorbic acid. *EBioMedicine* 2015, **2**(11):1735-1750.
- Padayatty SJ, Levine M: New insights into the physiology and pharmacology of vitamin C. CMAJ 2001, 164(3):353-355.
- Linster CL, Van SE: Vitamin C. Biosynthesis, recycling and degradation in mammals. FEBS J 2007, 274(1):1-22.
- 72. Frikke-Schmidt H, Tveden-Nyborg P, Lykkesfeldt J: **Vitamin C in human nutrition**. In: *Vitamins for prevention of human diseases*. Edited by Hermann W, Obeid R: De Gruyter; 2011: 323-347.

- 73. Eck P, Kwon O, Chen S, Mian O, Levine M: The human sodium-dependent ascorbic acid transporters SLC23A1 and SLC23A2 do not mediate ascorbic acid release in the proximal renal epithelial cell. *PhysiolReps* 2013, 1(6).
- Mendiratta S, Qu Z-c, May JM: Erythrocyte ascorbate recycling: antioxidant effects in blood. Free RadicBiolMed 1998, 24(5):789-797.
- 75. Upston JM, Karjalainen A, Bygrave FL, Stocker R: Efflux of hepatic ascorbate: a potential contributor to the maintenance of plasma vitamin C. *BiochemJ* 1999, **342**(1):49-56.
- 76. May JM, Qu Z-c: Ascorbic acid efflux and re-uptake in endothelial cells: maintenance of intracellular ascorbate. *MolCellBiochem* 2009, **325**(1-2):79-88.
- 77. Viscovich M, Lykkesfeldt J, Poulsen HE: Vitamin C pharmacokinetics of plain and slow release formulations in smokers. *ClinNutr* 2004, **23**(5):1043-1050.
- 78. Fürst J, Gschwentner M, Ritter M, Botta G, Jakab M, Mayer M, Garavaglia L, Bazzini C, Rodighiero S, Meyer G: Molecular and functional aspects of anionic channels activated during regulatory volume decrease in mammalian cells. *Pflügers Archiv* 2002, 444(1-2):1-25.
- 79. Siushansian R, Dixon SJ, Wilson JX: **Osmotic swelling stimulates ascorbate efflux from cerebral astrocytes**. *JNeurochem* 1996, **66**(3):1227-1233.
- May JM, Li L, Hayslett K, Qu Z-c: Ascorbate transport and recycling by SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells: response to glutamate toxicity. *NeurochemRes* 2006, **31**(6):785-794.
- 81. May JM, Qu ZC: Ascorbic acid efflux from human brain microvascular pericytes: Role of reuptake. *BioFactors* 2015, **41**(5):330-338.
- Padayatty SJ, Doppman JL, Chang R, Wang Y, Gill J, Papanicolaou DA, Levine M: Human adrenal glands secrete vitamin C in response to adrenocorticotrophic hormone. *AmJClinNutr* 2007, 86(1):145-149.
- Wilson JX, Peters CE, Sitar SM, Daoust P, Gelb AW: Glutamate stimulates ascorbate transport by astrocytes. BrainRes 2000, 858(1):61-66.
- 84. Yusa T: Increased extracellular ascorbate release reflects glutamate re-uptake during the early stage of reperfusion after forebrain ischemia in rats. *BrainRes* 2001, **897**(1-2):104-113.
- Levine M, Wang Y, Padayatty SJ, Morrow J: A new recommended dietary allowance of vitamin C for healthy young women. *ProcNatlAcadSciUSA* 2001, 98(17):9842-9846.
- Rice ME: Ascorbate regulation and its neuroprotective role in the brain. *Trends Neurosci* 2000, 23(5):209-216.
- 87. Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Wang Z, Ross R: Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18–88 yr. J ApplPhysiol 2000, 89(1):81-88.
- 88. Hasselholt S, Tveden-Nyborg P, Lykkesfeldt J: Distribution of vitamin C is tissue specific with early saturation of the brain and adrenal glands following differential oral dose regimens in guinea pigs. BrJNutr 2015, 113(10):1539-1549.
- Carr AC, Bozonet SM, Pullar JM, Simcock JW, Vissers MC: Human skeletal muscle ascorbate is highly responsive to changes in vitamin C intake and plasma concentrations. *AmJClinNutr* 2013, 97(4):800-807.
- 90. Yavorsky M, Almaden P, King C: The vitamin C content of human tissues. *JBiolChem* 1934, 106:525-529.
- 91. Vissers MC, Bozonet SM, Pearson JF, Braithwaite LJ: Dietary ascorbate intake affects steady state tissue concentrations in vitamin C–deficient mice: tissue deficiency after suboptimal

intake and superior bioavailability from a food source (kiwifruit). *AmJClinNutr* 2011, **93**(2):292-301.

- 92. Evans RM, Currie L, Campbell A: The distribution of ascorbic acid between various cellular components of blood, in normal individuals, and its relation to the plasma concentration. BrJNutr 1982, **47**(3):473-482.
- 93. Harrison FE, Green RJ, Dawes SM, May JM: Vitamin C distribution and retention in the mouse brain. *BrainRes* 2010, **1348**:181-186.
- 94. Maeda N, Hagihara H, Nakata Y, Hiller S, Wilder J, Reddick R: Aortic wall damage in mice unable to synthesize ascorbic acid. *ProcNatlAcadSciUSA* 2000, **97**(2):841-846.
- 95. Takahashi M, Miyata S, Fujii J, Inai Y, Ueyama S, Araki M, Soga T, Fujinawa R, Nishitani C, Ariki S:
 In vivo role of aldehyde reductase. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects* 2012, 1820(11):1787-1796.
- 96. Furusawa H, Sato Y, Tanaka Y, Inai Y, Amano A, Iwama M, Kondo Y, Handa S, Murata A, Nishikimi M: Vitamin C is not essential for carnitine biosynthesis in vivo: verification in vitamin C depleted senescence marker protein-30/gluconolactonase knockout mice. *BiolPharmaceutBull* 2008, 31(9):1673-1679.
- 97. Kondo Y, Inai Y, Sato Y, Handa S, Kubo S, Shimokado K, Goto S, Nishikimi M, Maruyama N, Ishigami A: Senescence marker protein 30 functions as gluconolactonase in L-ascorbic acid biosynthesis, and its knockout mice are prone to scurvy. *ProcNatlAcadSciUSA* 2006, 103(15):5723-5728.
- 98. Rice ME, Lee EJ, Choy Y: High levels of ascorbic acid, not glutathione, in the CNS of anoxiatolerant reptiles contrasted with levels in anoxia-intolerant species. *JNeurochem* 1995, 64(4):1790-1799.
- 99. Rice ME, Russo-Menna I: Differential compartmentalization of brain ascorbate and glutathione between neurons and glia. *Neuroscience* 1998, **82**(4):1213-1223.
- Tveden-Nyborg P, Hasselholt S, Miyashita N, Moos T, Poulsen HE, Lykkesfeldt J: Chronic Vitamin C Deficiency does not Accelerate Oxidative Stress in Ageing Brains of Guinea Pigs. BasicClinPharmacolToxicol 2012, 110(6):524-529.
- 101. Lykkesfeldt J, Moos T: Age-dependent change in Vitamin C status: a phenomenon of maturation rather than of ageing. *MechAgeing Dev* 2005, **126**(8):892-898.
- Spector R: Micronutrient homeostasis in mammalian brain and cerebrospinal fluid. JNeurochemi 1989, 53(6):1667-1674.
- 103. Segal MB: The choroid plexuses and the barriers between the blood and the cerebrospinal fluid. *CellMolecularNeurobiol* 2000, **20**(2):183-196.
- 104. Spector R, Johanson CE: Sustained choroid plexus function in human elderly and Alzheimer's disease patients. *Fluids and Barriers of the CNS* 2013, **10**(1):28.
- 105. Takanaga H, Mackenzie B, Hediger MA: Sodium-dependent ascorbic acid transporter family SLC23. *Pflugers Arch* 2004, 447(5):677-682.
- 106. Berger UV, Lu XC, Liu W, Tang Z, Slusher BS, Hediger MA: Effect of middle cerebral artery occlusion on mRNA expression for the sodium-coupled vitamin C transporter SVCT2 in rat brain. JNeurochem 2003, 86(4):896-906.

- 107. Garcia MDL, Salazar K, Millan C, Rodriguez F, Montecinos H, Caprile T, Silva C, Cortes C, Reinicke K, Vera JC *et al*: Sodium vitamin C cotransporter SVCT2 is expressed in hypothalamic glial cells. *Glia* 2005, **50**(1):32-47.
- 108. Mun GH, Kim MJ, Lee JH, Kim HJ, Chung YH, Chung YB, Kang JS, Hwang YI, Oh SH, Kim JG et al: Immunohistochemical study of the distribution of sodium-dependent vitamin C transporters in adult rat brain. JNeurosciRes 2006, 83(5):919-928.
- 109. Hammarström L: Autoradiographic studies on the distribution of C14-labelled ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid. Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 1966, **70**:1-83.
- Angelow S, Haselbach M, Galla H-J: Functional characterisation of the active ascorbic acid transport into cerebrospinal fluid using primary cultured choroid plexus cells. *BrainRes* 2003, 988(1-2):105-113.
- 111. Mack WJ, Mocco J, Ducruet AF, Laufer I, King RG, Zhang Y, Guo W, Pinsky DJ, Connolly ES, Jr.: A cerebroprotective dose of intravenous citrate/sorbitol-stabilized dehydroascorbic acid is correlated with increased cerebral ascorbic acid and inhibited lipid peroxidation after murine reperfused stroke. *Neurosurgery* 2006, **59**(2):383-388.
- Nualart F, Mack L, García A, Cisternas P, Bongarzone ER, Heitzer M, Jara N, Martínez F, Ferrada L, Espinoza F: Vitamin C transporters, recycling and the bystander effect in the nervous system: SVCT2 versus gluts. JStemCellRes&Therapy 2014, 4(5):209.
- 113. Agus DB, Gambhir SS, Pardridge WM, Spielholz C, Baselga J, Vera JC, Golde DW: Vitamin C crosses the blood-brain barrier in the oxidized form through the glucose transporters. JClinInvest 1997, 100(11):2842-2848.
- 114. Leino R, Gerhart D, Van Bueren A, McCall A, Drewes LR: Ultrastructural localization of GLUT 1 and GLUT 3 glucose transporters in rat brain. *JNeurosciRes* 1997, **49**(5):617-626.
- 115. Vera JC, Rivas CI, Fischbarg J, Golde DW: Mammalian facilitative hexose transporters mediate the transport of dehydroascorbic acid. *Nature* 1993, **364**(6432):79-82.
- 116. Vera J, Rivas C, Zhang R, Farber C, Golde D: Human HL-60 myeloid leukemia cells transport dehydroascorbic acid via the glucose transporters and accumulate reduced ascorbic acid. *Blood* 1994, **84**(5):1628-1634.
- 117. Lykkesfeldt J, Loft S, Nielsen JB, Poulsen HE: Ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid as biomarkers of oxidative stress caused by smoking. *AmJClinNutr* 1997, **65**(4):959-963.
- 118. Lykkesfeldt J: Ascorbate and dehydroascorbic acid as reliable biomarkers of oxidative stress: analytical reproducibility and long-term stability of plasma samples subjected to acidic deproteinization. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention* 2007, **16**(11):2513-2516.
- 119. Dhariwal KR, Hartzell WO, Levine M: Ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid measurements in human plasma and serum. *AmJClinNutr* 1991, **54**(4):712-716.
- 120. Caprile T, Salazar K, Astuya A, Cisternas P, Silva-Alvarez C, Montecinos H, Millán C, García MdlA, Nualart F: **The Na+-dependent L-ascorbic acid transporter SVCT2 expressed in brainstem cells, neurons, and neuroblastoma cells is inhibited by flavonoids**. *JNeurochem* 2009, **108**(3):563-577.
- Castro M, Caprile T, Astuya A, Millan C, Reinicke K, Vera JC, Vasquez O, Aguayo LG, Nualart F: High-affinity sodium-vitamin C co-transporters (SVCT) expression in embryonic mouse neurons. JNeurochem 2001, 78(4):815-823.
- 122. Qiu S, Li L, Weeber EJ, May JM: Ascorbate transport by primary cultured neurons and its role in neuronal function and protection against excitotoxicity. *JNeurosciRes* 2007, **85**(5):1046-1056.

- 123. Kratzing C, Kelly J, Oelrichs B: Ascorbic acid in neural tissues. JNeurochem 1982, 39(3):625-627.
- 124. Milby K, Oke A, Adams R: **Detailed mapping of ascorbate distribution in rat brain**. *Neurosciletters* 1982, **28**(1):15-20.
- Mefford IN, Oke AF, Adams RN: Regional distribution of ascorbate in human brain. Brain Res 1981, 212(1):223-226.
- 126. Meredith ME, Harrison FE, May JM: Differential regulation of the ascorbic acid transporter SVCT2 during development and in response to ascorbic acid depletion. BiochemBiophysResCommun 2011, 414(4):737-742.
- Mantych GJ, James DE, Chung HD, Devaskar SU: Cellular localization and characterization of Glut
 3 glucose transporter isoform in human brain. *Endocrinology* 1992, 131(3):1270-1278.
- 128. Morgello S, Uson RR, Schwartz EJ, Haber RS: **The human blood-brain barrier glucose transporter** (GLUT1) is a glucose transporter of gray matter astrocytes. *Glia* 1995, **14**(1):43-54.
- 129. García-Krauss A, Ferrada L, Astuya A, Salazar K, Cisternas P, Martínez F, Ramírez E, Nualart F: Dehydroascorbic acid promotes cell death in neurons under oxidative stress: a protective role for astrocytes. *MolNeurobiol* 2016, **53**(9):5847-5863.
- 130. Song JH, Shin SH, Ross GM: Oxidative stress induced by ascorbate causes neuronal damage in an in vitro system. *Brain Res* 2001, **895**(1-2):66-72.
- Silva-Alvarez C, Salazar K, Cisternas P, Martinez F, Liour S, Jara N, Bertinat R, Nualart F: Apical polarization of SVCT2 in apical radial glial cells and progenitors during brain development. *MolNeurobiol* 2017, 54(7):5449-5467.
- 132. Salazar K, Cerda G, Martínez F, Sarmiento JM, González C, Rodríguez F, García-Robles M, Tapia JC, Cifuentes M, Nualart F: SVCT2 transporter expression is post-natally induced in cortical neurons and its function is regulated by its short isoform. JNeurochem 2014, 130(5):693-706.
- 133. Oyarce K, Silva-Alvarez C, Ferrada L, Martínez F, Salazar K, Nualart F: SVCT2 is expressed by cerebellar precursor cells, which differentiate into neurons in response to ascorbic acid. *MolNeurobiol* 2018, 55(2):1136-1149.
- 134. Berger UV, Hediger MA: The vitamin C transporter SVCT2 is expressed by astrocytes in culture but not in situ. *Neuroreport* 2000, **11**(7):1395-1399.
- 135. Castro MA, Pozo M, Cortés C, García MdlA, Concha II, Nualart F: Intracellular ascorbic acid inhibits transport of glucose by neurons, but not by astrocytes. JNeurochem 2007, 102(3):773-782.
- Astuya A, Caprile T, Castro M, Salazar K, Garcia MdlA, Reinicke K, Rodríguez F, Vera JC, Millán C, Ulloa V: Vitamin C uptake and recycling among normal and tumor cells from the central nervous system. JNeurosciRes 2005, 79(1-2):146-156.
- Nualart FJ, Rivas CI, Montecinos VP, Godoy AS, Guaiquil VH, Golde DW, Vera JC: Recycling of vitamin C by a bystander effect. *JBiolChem* 2003, 278(12):10128-10133.
- Siushansian R, Tao L, Dixon SJ, Wilson JX: Cerebral astrocytes transport ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid through distinct mechanisms regulated by cyclic AMP. JNeurochem 1997, 68(6):2378-2385.
- 139. Wilson JX, Dragan M: Sepsis inhibits recycling and glutamate-stimulated export of ascorbate by astrocytes. *Free RadicBiolMed* 2005, **39**(8):990-998.

- 140. Iwata N, Okazaki M, Xuan M, Kamiuchi S, Matsuzaki H, Hibino Y: **Orally administrated ascorbic** acid suppresses neuronal damage and modifies expression of SVCT2 and GLUT1 in the brain of diabetic rats with cerebral ischemia-reperfusion. *Nutrients* 2014, **6**(4):1554-1577.
- 141. Gess B, Sevimli S, Strecker JK, Young P, Schabitz WR: Sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter 2 (SVCT2) expression and activity in brain capillary endothelial cells after transient ischemia in mice. *PLoSOne* 2011, 6(2):e17139.
- 142. Salazar K, Martínez F, Pérez-Martín M, Cifuentes M, Trigueros L, Ferrada L, Espinoza F, Saldivia N, Bertinat R, Forman K: **SVCT2 expression and function in reactive astrocytes is a common event in different brain pathologies**. *MolNeurobiol* 2018, **55**(7):5439-5452.
- Frei B, England L, Ames BN: Ascorbate is an outstanding antioxidant in human blood plasma.
 ProcNatlAcadSci 1989, 86(16):6377-6381.
- 144. Frei B, Stocker R, Ames BN: Antioxidant defenses and lipid peroxidation in human blood plasma. *ProcNatlAcadSci* 1988, **85**(24):9748-9752.
- 145. Packer J, Slater T, RL W: Direct observation of a free radical interaction between vitamin E and vitamin C. *Nature* 1979, **278**(737):8.
- 146. Chakraborty S, Nandi A, Mukhopadhyay M, Mukhopadhyay CK, Chatterjee IB: Ascorbate protects guinea pig tissues against lipid peroxidation. *Free RadicBiolMed* 1994, **16**(4):417-426.
- Nandi A, Mukhopadhyay CK, Ghosh MK, Chattopadhyay DJ, Chatterjee IB: Evolutionary significance of vitamin C biosynthesis in terrestrial vertebrates. *Free RadicBiolMed* 1997, 22(6):1047-1054.
- 148. Halliwell B: Reactive oxygen species and the central nervous system. JNeurochem 1992, 59(5):1609-1623.
- 149. Driver AS, Kodavanti PRS, Mundy WR: Age-related changes in reactive oxygen species production in rat brain homogenates. *Neurotox&Teratol* 2000, **22**(2):175-181.
- 150. Bazinet RP, Layé S: **Polyunsaturated fatty acids and their metabolites in brain function and disease**. *NatureRevNeurosci* 2014, **15**(12):771-785.
- 151. Hasselholt S, Tveden-Nyborg P, Lykkesfeldt J: **Vitamin C: it's role in brain development and cognition**. In: *Nutrition and cognitive performance: A developmental perspective.* Edited by Riby L, Smith MA, Foster JK: Palgrave-MacMillan; 2012: 29-52.
- 152. Di Miceli M, Bosch-Bouju C, Layé S: **PUFA and their derivatives in neurotransmission and** synapses: a new hallmark of synaptopathies. *ProcNutritSoc* 2020:1-16.
- Sastry PS: Lipids of nervous tissue: composition and metabolism. *ProgrLipidRes* 1985, 24(2):69-176.
- Postila PA, Róg T: A Perspective: Active Role of Lipids in Neurotransmitter Dynamics. MolNeurobiol 2020, 57(2):910-925.
- 155. Araque A, Castillo PE, Manzoni OJ, Tonini R: **Synaptic functions of endocannabinoid signaling in** health and disease. *Neuropharmacology* 2017, **124**:13-24.
- 156. Haj-Dahmane S, Shen R-Y, Elmes MW, Studholme K, Kanjiya MP, Bogdan D, Thanos PK, Miyauchi JT, Tsirka SE, Deutsch DG: Fatty-acid–binding protein 5 controls retrograde endocannabinoid signaling at central glutamate synapses. *ProcNatlAcadSci* 2018, **115**(13):3482-3487.
- 157. Stella N: Endocannabinoid signaling in microglial cells. *Neuropharmacology* 2009, 56:244-253.

- Montine KS, Olson SJ, Amarnath V, Whetsell Jr WO, Graham DG, Montine TJ:
 Immunohistochemical detection of 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal adducts in Alzheimer's disease is associated with inheritance of APOE4. AmJPath 1997, 150(2):437.
- 159. Pamplona R, Naudí A, Gavín R, Pastrana MA, Sajnani G, Ilieva EV, del Río JA, Portero-Otín M, Ferrer I, Requena JR: Increased oxidation, glycoxidation, and lipoxidation of brain proteins in prion disease. Free RadicBiolMed 2008, 45(8):1159-1166.
- Schippling S, Kontush A, Arlt S, Buhmann C, Stürenburg H-J, Mann U, Müller-Thomsen T, Beisiegel
 U: Increased lipoprotein oxidation in Alzheimer's disease. *Free RadicBiolMed* 2000, 28(3):351-360.
- 161. Long J, Liu C, Sun L, Gao H, Liu J: Neuronal mitochondrial toxicity of malondialdehyde: inhibitory effects on respiratory function and enzyme activities in rat brain mitochondria. *NeurochemRes* 2009, **34**(4):786-794.
- 162. Aguado T, Palazuelos J, Monory K, Stella N, Cravatt B, Lutz B, Marsicano G, Kokaia Z, Guzmán M, Galve-Roperh I: The endocannabinoid system promotes astroglial differentiation by acting on neural progenitor cells. JNeurosci 2006, 26(5):1551-1561.
- 163. Harkany T, Guzmán M, Galve-Roperh I, Berghuis P, Devi LA, Mackie K: **The emerging functions of** endocannabinoid signaling during CNS development. *Trends in PharmSci* 2007, **28**(2):83-92.
- Rashid MA, Katakura M, Kharebava G, Kevala K, Kim HY: N-docosahexaenoylethanolamine is a potent neurogenic factor for neural stem cell differentiation. JNeurochem 2013, 125(6):869-884.
- 165. Harrison FE, Meredith ME, Dawes SM, Saskowski JL, May JM: Low ascorbic acid and increased oxidative stress in gulo(-/-) mice during development. *BrainRes* 2010, **1349**:143-152.
- Walmsley AR, Batten MR, Lad U, Bulleid NJ: Intracellular retention of procollagen within the endoplasmic reticulum is mediated by prolyl 4-hydroxylase. *JBiolChem* 1999, 274(21):14884-14892.
- 167. Yoshikawa K, Takahashi S, Imamura Y, Sado Y, Hayashi T: Secretion of Non-helical collagenous pblypeptides of α1 (IV) and α2 (IV) chains upon depletion of ascorbate by cultured human cells. *JBiochem* 2001, **129**(6):929-936.
- Hara K, Akiyama Y: Collagen-related abnormalities, reduction in bone quality, and effects of menatetrenone in rats with a congenital ascorbic acid deficiency. *JBoneMinerMetab* 2009, 27(3):324-332.
- Hodges RE, Baker EM, Hood J, SAUBERLICH HE, March SC: Experimental scurvy in man. AmJClinNutr 1969, 22(5):535-548.
- Gone I, Wadu M, Goodman M: Capillary hemorrhage in ascorbic-acid-deficient guinea pigs.
 Ultrastructural basis. ArchPathol 1968, 85:493-502.
- 171. Flashman E, Davies SL, Yeoh KK, Schofield CJ: Investigating the dependence of the hypoxiainducible factor hydroxylases (factor inhibiting HIF and prolyl hydroxylase domain 2) on ascorbate and other reducing agents. *BiochemJ* 2010, **427**(1):135-142.
- Osipyants AI, Poloznikov AA, Smirnova NA, Hushpulian DM, Khristichenko AY, Chubar TA,
 Zakhariants AA, Ahuja M, Gaisina IN, Thomas B: L-ascorbic acid: A true substrate for HIF prolyl
 hydroxylase? Biochimie 2018, 147:46-54.

- 173. Chen R, Lai UH, Zhu L, Singh A, Ahmed M, Forsyth NR: **Reactive oxygen species formation in the brain at different oxygen levels: the role of hypoxia inducible factors**. *FrontCellDevelopmBiol* 2018, **6**:132.
- 174. Schönenberger MJ, Kovacs WJ: **Hypoxia signaling pathways: modulators of oxygen-related** organelles. *FrontCellDevelopmBiol* 2015, **3**:42.
- Chandel N, Maltepe E, Goldwasser E, Mathieu C, Simon M, Schumacker P: Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species trigger hypoxia-induced transcription. *ProcNatlAcadSci* 1998, 95(20):11715-11720.
- 176. Li L, Qu Y, Li J, Xiong Y, Mao M, Mu D: Relationship between HIF-1α expression and neuronal apoptosis in neonatal rats with hypoxia–ischemia brain injury. *BrainRes* 2007, **1180**:133-139.
- 177. Chen W, Jadhav V, Tang J, Zhang JH: **HIF-1**α inhibition ameliorates neonatal brain injury in a rat pup hypoxic–ischemic model. *NeurobiolDis* 2008, **31**(3):433-441.
- 178. Bae Y-H, Joo H, Bae J, Hyeon SJ, Her S, Ko E, Choi HG, Ryu H, Hur E-M, Bu Y: Brain injury induces HIF-1α-dependent transcriptional activation of LRRK2 that exacerbates brain damage. *Cell death & disease* 2018, 9(11):1-19.
- 179. Fan X, Heijnen CJ, van der Kooij MA, Groenendaal F, van Bel F: The role and regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1α expression in brain development and neonatal hypoxic–ischemic brain injury. BrainResRev 2009, 62(1):99-108.
- Sharp FR, Bernaudin M: HIF1 and oxygen sensing in the brain. Nature RevNeurosci 2004, 5(6):437-448.
- 181. Lee YM, Jeong CH, Koo SY, Son MJ, Song HS, Bae SK, Raleigh JA, Chung HY, Yoo MA, Kim KW: Determination of hypoxic region by hypoxia marker in developing mouse embryos in vivo: a possible signal for vessel development. Developmental dynamics: an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists 2001, 220(2):175-186.
- 182. Tomita S, Ueno M, Sakamoto M, Kitahama Y, Ueki M, Maekawa N, Sakamoto H, Gassmann M, Kageyama R, Ueda N: Defective brain development in mice lacking the Hif-1α gene in neural cells. *MolCellBiol* 2003, 23(19):6739-6749.
- 183. Chen J, Guo L, Zhang L, Wu H, Yang J, Liu H, Wang X, Hu X, Gu T, Zhou Z: **Vitamin C modulates TET1 function during somatic cell reprogramming**. *Nature genetics* 2013, **45**(12):1504.
- 184. Wang T, Chen K, Zeng X, Yang J, Wu Y, Shi X, Qin B, Zeng L, Esteban MA, Pan G: The histone demethylases Jhdm1a/1b enhance somatic cell reprogramming in a vitamin-C-dependent manner. Cell stem cell 2011, 9(6):575-587.
- Yin R, Mao S-Q, Zhao B, Chong Z, Yang Y, Zhao C, Zhang D, Huang H, Gao J, Li Z *et al*: Ascorbic
 Acid Enhances Tet-Mediated 5-Methylcytosine Oxidation and Promotes DNA Demethylation in
 Mammals. JAmChemSoc 2013, 135(28):10396-10403.
- 186. Blaschke K, Ebata KT, Karimi MM, Zepeda-Martínez JA, Goyal P, Mahapatra S, Tam A, Laird DJ, Hirst M, Rao A: Vitamin C induces Tet-dependent DNA demethylation and a blastocyst-like state in ES cells. Nature 2013, 500(7461):222-226.
- 187. DiTroia SP, Percharde M, Guerquin M-J, Wall E, Collignon E, Ebata KT, Mesh K, Mahesula S, Agathocleous M, Laird DJ: Maternal vitamin C regulates reprogramming of DNA methylation and germline development. *Nature* 2019, 573(7773):271-275.
- 188. Kawahori K, Kondo Y, Yuan X, Kawasaki Y, Hanzawa N, Tsujimoto K, Wada F, Kohda T, Ishigami A, Yamada T: Ascorbic acid during the suckling period is required for proper DNA demethylation in the liver. SciReps 2020, 10(1):1-13.
- 189. He XB, Kim M, Kim SY, Yi SH, Rhee YH, Kim T, Lee EH, Park CH, Dixit S, Harrison FE: Vitamin C Facilitates Dopamine Neuron Differentiation in Fetal Midbrain Through TET 1-and JMJD 3-Dependent Epigenetic Control Manner. Stem cells 2015, 33(4):1320-1332.
- 190. Hahn MA, Qiu R, Wu X, Li AX, Zhang H, Wang J, Jui J, Jin S-G, Jiang Y, Pfeifer GP: Dynamics of 5hydroxymethylcytosine and chromatin marks in Mammalian neurogenesis. *Cell reports* 2013, 3(2):291-300.
- 191. Vaz FM, Wanders RJ: Carnitine biosynthesis in mammals. BiochemJ 2002, 361(3):417-429.
- 192. Rebouche CJ: Ascorbic-Acid and Carnitine Biosynthesis. *AmJClinNutr* 1991, **54**(6):S1147-S1152.
- Nelson PJ, Pruitt RE, Henderson LL, Jenness R, Henderson LM: Effect of ascorbic acid deficiency on the in vivo synthesis of carnitine. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects* 1981, 672(1):123-127.
- 194. Rebouche CJ: The ability of guinea pigs to synthesize carnitine at a normal rate from ε-Ntrimethyllysine or γ-butyrobetaine in vivo is not compromised by experimental vitamin C deficiency. *Metabolism* 1995, 44(5):624-629.
- Alkonyi I, Cseko J, Sandor A: Role of the liver in carnitine metabolism: the mechanism of development of carnitine-deficient status in guinea-pigs. *JClinChem&ClinBiochem* 1990, 28(5):319-321.
- 196. Rau TF, Lu Q, Sharma S, Sun X, Leary G, Beckman ML, Hou Y, Wainwright MS, Kavanaugh M, Poulsen DJ: Oxygen glucose deprivation in rat hippocampal slice cultures results in alterations in carnitine homeostasis and mitochondrial dysfunction. *PLoS One* 2012, 7(9):e40881.
- 197. Ferreira GC, McKenna MC: L-Carnitine and acetyl-L-carnitine roles and neuroprotection in developing brain. NeurochemRes 2017, 42(6):1661-1675.
- 198. Celestino-Soper PB, Violante S, Crawford EL, Luo R, Lionel AC, Delaby E, Cai G, Sadikovic B, Lee K, Lo C: A common X-linked inborn error of carnitine biosynthesis may be a risk factor for nondysmorphic autism. *ProcNatlAcadScien* 2012, **109**(21):7974-7981.
- 199. Ueno Y, Koike M, Shimada Y, Shimura H, Hira K, Tanaka R, Uchiyama Y, Hattori N, Urabe T: Lcarnitine enhances axonal plasticity and improves white-matter lesions after chronic hypoperfusion in rat brain. JCerebral Blood Flow & Metab 2015, 35(3):382-391.
- 200. Wainwright MS, Mannix MK, Brown J, Stumpf DA: L-carnitine reduces brain injury after hypoxiaischemia in newborn rats. *PedRes* 2003, **54**(5):688-695.
- Xu S, Waddell J, Zhu W, Shi D, Marshall AD, McKenna MC, Gullapalli RP: In vivo longitudinal proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy on neonatal hypoxic-ischemic rat brain injury: Neuroprotective effects of acetyl-L-carnitine. *Magnetic resonance in medicine* 2015, 74(6):1530-1542.
- 202. Tang S, Xu S, Lu X, Gullapalli RP, McKenna MC, Waddell J: Neuroprotective effects of acetyl-lcarnitine on neonatal hypoxia ischemia-induced brain injury in rats. *DevelopmNeurosci* 2016, 38(5):384-396.
- 203. Scafidi S, Racz J, Hazelton J, McKenna MC, Fiskum G: Neuroprotection by acetyl-L-carnitine after traumatic injury to the immature rat brain. *DevelopmNeurosci* 2010, **32**(5-6):480-487.

- 204. López-Suárez O, Concheiro-Guisán A, Sánchez-Pintos P, Cocho JA, Lorenzo JRF, Couce ML:
 Acylcarnitine profile in neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy: The value of butyrylcarnitine as a prognostic marker. *Medicine* 2019, **98**(15).
- 205. Johnston CS, Corte C, Swan PD: Marginal vitamin C status is associated with reduced fat oxidation during submaximal exercise in young adults. *Nutr&Metab* 2006, **3**(1):1-5.
- 206. Kurihara K, Homma T, Kobayashi S, Shichiri M, Fujiwara H, Fujii S, Yamada K-i, Nakane M, Kawamae K, Fujii J: Ascorbic acid insufficiency impairs spatial memory formation in juvenile AKR1A-knockout mice. *JCliniBiochemNutr* 2019, **65**(3):209-216.
- 207. Ward MS, Lamb J, May JM, Harrison FE: Behavioral and monoamine changes following severe vitamin C deficiency. *JNeurochem* 2013, **124**(3):363-375.
- 208. Meredith ME, May JM: Regulation of embryonic neurotransmitter and tyrosine hydroxylase protein levels by ascorbic acid. *BrainRes* 2013, **1539**:7-14.
- 209. Levine M: Ascorbic acid specifically enhances dopamine beta-monooxygenase activity in resting and stimulated chromaffin cells. *JBiolChem* 1986, **261**(16):7347-7356.
- Levine M, Morita K, Heldman E, Pollard HB: Ascorbic acid regulation of norepinephrine biosynthesis in isolated chromaffin granules from bovine adrenal medulla. *JBiolChem* 1985, 260(29):15598-15603.
- 211. Ferreira NR, Ledo A, Laranjinha J, Gerhardt GA, Barbosa RM: **Simultaneous measurements of** ascorbate and glutamate in vivo in the rat brain using carbon fiber nanocomposite sensors and microbiosensor arrays. *Bioelectrochemistry* 2018, **121**:142-150.
- 212. Sandstrom MI, Rebec GV: Extracellular ascorbate modulates glutamate dynamics: role of behavioral activation. *BMC neuroscience* 2007, **8**(1):1-6.
- Rebec GV, Witowski SR, Sandstrom MI, Rostand RD, Kennedy RT: Extracellular ascorbate modulates cortically evoked glutamate dynamics in rat striatum. *NeurosciLetters* 2005, 378(3):166-170.
- 214. Harrison FE, May JM: Vitamin C function in the brain: vital role of the ascorbate transporter SVCT2. Free RadicBiolMed 2009, 46(6):719-730.
- 215. Mi DJ, Dixit S, Warner TA, Kennard JA, Scharf DA, Kessler ES, Moore LM, Consoli DC, Bown CW, Eugene AJ et al: Altered glutamate clearance in ascorbate deficient mice increases seizure susceptibility and contributes to cognitive impairment in APP/PSEN1 mice. Neurobiology of aging 2018, 71:241-254.
- 216. Patel M, Day BJ, Crapo JD, Fridovich I, McNamara JO: Requirement for superoxide in excitotoxic cell death. *Neuron* 1996, **16**(2):345-355.
- 217. Johnston MV: Excitotoxicity in neonatal hypoxia. *Mental retardation and developmental disabilities research reviews* 2001, **7**(4):229-234.
- 218. Johnston MV: Excitotoxicity in perinatal brain injury. *BrainPathol* 2005, **15**(3):234-240.
- 219. Warner TA, Kang J-Q, Kennard JA, Harrison FE: Low brain ascorbic acid increases susceptibility to seizures in mouse models of decreased brain ascorbic acid transport and Alzheimer's disease. *Epilepsy research* 2015, **110**:20-25.
- 220. Dyer AH, Vahdatpour C, Sanfeliu A, Tropea D: **The role of Insulin-Like Growth Factor 1 (IGF-1) in brain development, maturation and neuroplasticity**. *Neuroscience* 2016, **325**:89-99.
- 221. Mattson MP: Glutamate and Neurotrophic Factors in Neuronal Plasticity and Disease. AnnNYAcadSci 2008, **1144**(1):97-112.

- 222. Banerjee A, Larsen RS, Philpot BD, Paulsen O: Roles of Presynaptic NMDA Receptors in Neurotransmission and Plasticity. *Trends in Neurosciences* 2016, **39**(1):26-39.
- 223. Calero CI, Vickers E, Cid GM, Aguayo LG, von Gersdorff H, Calvo DJ: Allosteric modulation of retinal GABA receptors by ascorbic acid. *JNeurosci* 2011, **31**(26):9672-9682.
- Rosa PB, Neis VB, Ribeiro CM, Moretti M, Rodrigues ALS: Antidepressant-like effects of ascorbic acid and ketamine involve modulation of GABAA and GABAB receptors. *PharmReps* 2016, 68(5):996-1001.
- 225. Moretti M, Werle I, da Rosa PB, Neis VB, Platt N, Souza SVS, Rodrigues ALS: A single coadministration of subeffective doses of ascorbic acid and ketamine reverses the depressive-like behavior induced by chronic unpredictable stress in mice. *PharmBiochem&Beh* 2019, 187:172800.
- Moretti M, Fraga DB, Rodrigues ALS: Ascorbic Acid to Manage Psychiatric Disorders. CNS Drugs 2017, 31(7):571-583.
- 227. Plevin D, Galletly C: **The neuropsychiatric effects of vitamin C deficiency: a systematic review**. BMC psychiatry 2020, **20**(1):1-9.
- 228. Isaacs EB, Gadian DG, Sabatini S, Chong WK, Quinn BT, Fischl BR, Lucas A: **The effect of early** human diet on caudate volumes and IQ. *PedRes* 2008, **63**(3):308-314.
- 229. Rosales FJ, Reznick JS, Zeisel SH: Understanding the role of nutrition in the brain and behavioral development of toddlers and preschool children: identifying and addressing methodological barriers. *NutrNeuroSci* 2009, **12**(5):190-202.
- 230. Georgieff MK, Ramel SE, Cusick SE: Nutritional influences on brain development. Acta Paediatrica 2018, **107**(8):1310-1321.
- Prado EL, Dewey KG: Nutrition and brain development in early life. NutrRev 2014, 72(4):267-284.
- 232. Običan SG, Finnell RH, Mills JL, Shaw GM, Scialli AR: Folic acid in early pregnancy: a public health success story. *The FASEB Journal* 2010, **24**(11):4167-4174.
- 233. Cusick SE, Georgieff MK, Rao R: Approaches for reducing the risk of early-life iron deficiencyinduced brain dysfunction in children. *Nutrients* 2018, **10**(2):227.
- Rao R, Tkac I, Schmidt AT, Georgieff MK: Fetal and neonatal iron deficiency causes volume loss and alters the neurochemical profile of the adult rat hippocampus. *NutrNeurosci* 2011, 14(2):59-65.
- 235. Lauritzen L, Brambilla P, Mazzocchi A, Harsløf L, Ciappolino V, Agostoni C: DHA effects in brain development and function. *Nutrients* 2016, **8**(1):6.
- 236. Morse NL: Benefits of docosahexaenoic acid, folic acid, vitamin D and iodine on foetal and infant brain development and function following maternal supplementation during pregnancy and lactation. *Nutrients* 2012, 4(7):799-840.
- 237. Dobbing J, Sands J: Growth and Development of Brain and Spinal Cord of Guinea Pig. BrainRes 1970, 17(1):115-&.
- Carter AM: Animal models of human placentation--a review. Placenta 2007, 28 Suppl A:S41-S47.
- 239. Enders AC: A comparative study of the fine structure of the trophoblast in several hemochorial placentas. *AmJAnat* 1965, **116**:29-67.

- 240. Nitsos I, Rees S: The effects of intrauterine growth retardation on the development of neuroglia in fetal guinea pigs. An immunohistochemical and an ultrastructural study. *IntJDevNeurosci* 1990, **8**(3):233-244.
- 241. Back SA, Luo NL, Borenstein NS, Levine JM, Volpe JJ, Kinney HC: Late oligodendrocyte progenitors coincide with the developmental window of vulnerability for human perinatal white matter injury. *JNeurosci* 2001, **21**(4):1302-1312.
- 242. Workman AD, Charvet CJ, Clancy B, Darlington RB, Finlay BL: Modeling Transformations of Neurodevelopmental Sequences across Mammalian Species. *JNeurosci* 2013, **33**(17):7368-7383.
- 243. Clancy B, Finlay BL, Darlington RB, Anand K: Extrapolating brain development from experimental species to humans. *Neurotoxicology* 2007, **28**(5):931-937.
- 244. Gladen BC, Tabacova S, Baird DD, Little RE, Balabaeva L: Variability of lipid hydroperoxides in pregnant and nonpregnant women. *ReprodTox* 1999, **13**(1):41-44.
- 245. Morris JM, Gopaul NK, Endresen MJ, Knight M, Linton EA, Dhir S, Ängård EE, Redman CW:
 Circulating markers of oxidative stress are raised in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia.
 BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology 1998, 105(11):1195-1199.
- 246. Toescu V, Nuttall SL, Martin U, Kendall MJ, Dunne F: Oxidative stress and normal pregnancy. *ClinEndocrinol* 2002, **57**(5):609-613.
- 247. Domínguez-Perles R, Gil-Izquierdo A, Ferreres F, Medina S: Update on oxidative stress and inflammation in pregnant women, unborn children (nasciturus), and newborns–Nutritional and dietary effects. *Free RadicBiolMed* 2019, **142**:38-51.
- 248. Rajan DP, Huang W, Dutta B, Devoe LD, Leibach FH, Ganapathy V, Prasad PD: **Human placental** sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter (SVCT2): molecular cloning and transport function. *BiochemBiophysResCommun* 1999, 262(3):762-768.
- 249. Scaife AR, McNeill G, Campbell DM, Martindale S, Devereux G, Seaton A: Maternal intake of antioxidant vitamins in pregnancy in relation to maternal and fetal plasma levels at delivery. *BrJNutr* 2006, 95(4):771-778.
- 250. Baydas G, Karatas F, Gursu MF, Bozkurt HA, Ilhan N, Yasar A, Canatan H: Antioxidant vitamin levels in term and preterm infants and their relation to maternal vitamin status. *ArchMedRes* 2002, **33**(3):276-280.
- 251. Schjoldager JG, Tveden-Nyborg P, Lykkesfeldt J: **Prolonged maternal vitamin C deficiency** overrides preferential fetal ascorbate transport but does not influence perinatal survival in guinea pigs. *BrJNutr* 2013, **110**(9):1573-1579.
- 252. Dobbing J, Sands J: Comparative aspects of the brain growth spurt. *Early HumDev* 1979, 3(1):79-83.
- Ikonomidou C, Kaindl AM: Neuronal death and oxidative stress in the developing brain. AntioxidRedoxSign 2011, 14(8):1535-1550.
- 254. Kim H, Kim Y, Bae S, Lim SH, Jang M, Choi J, Jeon J, Hwang Y-i, Kang JS, Lee WJ: Vitamin C deficiency causes severe defects in the development of the neonatal cerebellum and in the motor behaviors of Gulo-/- mice. AntioxidantsRedoxSign 2015, 23(16):1270-1283.
- 255. Nam SM, Seo JS, Go T-H, Nahm S-S, Chang B-J: Ascorbic acid supplementation prevents the detrimental effects of prenatal and postnatal lead exposure on the Purkinje cell and related proteins in the cerebellum of developing rats. *BiologTraceElemRes* 2019, **190**(2):446-456.

- 256. Kishimoto Y, Kanai T, Sato K, Lee J, Jeong K-S, Shimokado K, Maruyama N, Ishigami A: Insufficient ascorbic acid intake during gestation induces abnormal cardiac dilation in fetal and neonatal SMP30/GNL knockout mice. *PedRes* 2013, 73(5):578-584.
- 257. Mallard C, Loeliger M, Copolov D, Rees S: Reduced number of neurons in the hippocampus and the cerebellum in the postnatal guinea-pig following intrauterine growth-restriction. *Neuroscience* 2000, **100**(2):327-333.
- 258. Mallard EC, Rehn A, Rees S, Tolcos M, Copolov D: Ventriculomegaly and reduced hippocampal volume following intrauterine growth-restriction: implications for the aetiology of schizophrenia. *SchizophrRes* 1999, **40**(1):11-21.
- 259. Dieni S, Rees S: **Dendritic morphology is altered in hippocampal neurons following prenatal compromise**. *JNeurobiol* 2003, **55**(1):41-52.
- 260. Tolcos M, McDougall A, Shields A, Chung Y, O'Dowd R, Turnley A, Wallace M, Rees S: Intrauterine Growth Restriction Affects Cerebellar Granule Cells in the Developing Guinea Pig Brain. DevelopmNeurosci 2018, 40(2):162-174.
- 261. Tolcos M, Bateman E, O'Dowd R, Markwick R, Vrijsen K, Rehn A, Rees S: Intrauterine growth restriction affects the maturation of myelin. *Experimental neurology* 2011, 232(1):53-65.
- Brender JD, Werler MM, Kelley KE, Vuong AM, Shinde MU, Zheng Q, Huber Jr JC, Sharkey JR, Griesenbeck JS, Romitti PA: Nitrosatable drug exposure during early pregnancy and neural tube defects in offspring: National Birth Defects Prevention Study. *AmJEpidemiol* 2011, 174(11):1286-1295.
- Camarena V, Wang G: The epigenetic role of vitamin C in health and disease. *CellMolLifeSci* 2016, 73(8):1645-1658.
- 264. Madruga de Oliveira A, Rondó PHC, Oliveira JM: Maternal alcohol consumption may influence cord blood ascorbic acid concentration: findings from a study of Brazilian mothers and their newborns. *BrJNutr* 2009, **102**(6):895-898.
- Mathews, Neil: Nutrient intakes during pregnancy in a cohort of nulliparous women. JHumNutritDietetics 1998, 11(2):151-161.
- 266. Mathews F, Yudkin P, Neil A: Influence of maternal nutrition on outcome of pregnancy: prospective cohort study. *BMJ* 1999, **319**(7206):339-343.
- 267. Lee B, Hong Y-C, Lee K, Kim Y, Kim W, Chang N, Park E, Park H, Hann H: Influence of maternal serum levels of vitamins C and E during the second trimester on birth weight and length. *EurJClinNutr* 2004, **58**(10):1365-1371.
- 268. Jang W, Kim H, Lee B-E, Chang N: Maternal fruit and vegetable or vitamin C consumption during pregnancy is associated with fetal growth and infant growth up to 6 months: results from the Korean Mothers and Children's Environmental Health (MOCEH) cohort study. *Nutrition Journal* 2018, **17**(1):105.
- Leitner Y, Fattal-Valevski A, Geva R, Eshel R, Toledano-Alhadef H, Rotstein M, Bassan H, Radianu
 B, Bitchonsky O, Jaffa AJ: Neurodevelopmental outcome of children with intrauterine growth
 retardation: a longitudinal, 10-year prospective study. JChildNeurol 2007, 22(5):580-587.
- 270. Bellido-González M, Díaz-López MÁ, López-Criado S, Maldonado-Lozano J: Cognitive functioning and academic achievement in children aged 6–8 years, born at term after intrauterine growth restriction and fetal cerebral redistribution. JPedPsych 2017, 42(3):345-354.

- 271. Wang Y, Fu W, Liu J: Neurodevelopment in children with intrauterine growth restriction: adverse effects and interventions. *JMaternal-fetal&NeonatalMed* 2016, **29**(4):660-668.
- 272. Chen J, Chen P, Bo T, Luo K: Cognitive and behavioral outcomes of intrauterine growth restriction school-age children. *Pediatrics* 2016, **137**(4).
- Dede H, Takmaz O, Ozbasli E, Dede S, Gungor M: Higher level of oxidative stress markers in small for gestational age newborns delivered by cesarean section at term. *FetPedPath* 2017, 36(3):232-239.
- 274. Wixey JA, Chand KK, Colditz PB, Bjorkman ST: Neuroinflammation in intrauterine growth restriction. *Placenta* 2017, **54**:117-124.
- 275. Chappell LC, Seed PT, Kelly FJ, Briley A, Hunt BJ, Charnock-Jones DS, Mallet A, Poston L: Vitamin C and E supplementation in women at risk of preeclampsia is associated with changes in indices of oxidative stress and placental function. *AmJObstetGynecol* 2002, **187**(3):777-784.
- 276. Rumbold AR, Crowther CA, Haslam RR, Dekker GA, Robinson JS: Vitamins C and E and the risks of preeclampsia and perinatal complications. *NEJMed* 2006, **354**(17):1796-1806.
- 277. Chappell LC, Seed PT, Briley A, Kelly FJ, Hunt BJ, Charnock-Jones DS, Mallet AI, Poston L: A
 longitudinal study of biochemical variables in women at risk of preeclampsia. *AmJObstGynecol* 2002, 187(1):127-136.
- 278. Spinnato JA, Freire S, e Silva JLP, Rudge MVC, Martins-Costa S, Koch MA, Goco N, de Barros Santos C, Cecatti JG, Costa R: **Antioxidant therapy to prevent preeclampsia: a randomized controlled trial**. *Obstet&Gynecol* 2007, **110**(6):1311-1318.
- 279. Ahn Y, Kim Y, Park H, Park B, Lee H: **Prenatal vitamin C status is associated with placental** apoptosis in normal-term human pregnancies. *Placenta* 2007, **28**(1):31-38.
- 280. Crowther CA, Rumbold A, Robinson J: The authors reply. *NEJMed* 2006, 355(10).
- 281. Lavoie J-C, Chessex P: Parenteral nutrition and oxidant stress in the newborn: A narrative review. *Free RadicBiolMed* 2019, **142**:155-167.
- 282. Perrone S, Laschi E, Buonocore G: Biomarkers of oxidative stress in the fetus and in the newborn. *Free RadicBiolMed* 2019, **142**:23-31.
- 283. Ortega RM, Quintas ME, Andrés P, Martínez RM, López-Sobaler AM: Ascorbic acid levels in maternal milk: differences with respect to ascorbic acid status during the third trimester of pregnancy. *BrJNutr* 1998, **79**(5):431-437.
- 284. Picciano MF: Nutrient Composition of Human Milk. PedClinicsNA 2001, 48(1):53-67.
- 285. Salmenperä L: Vitamin C nutrition during prolonged lactation: optimal in infants while marginal in some mothers. *AmJClinNutr* 1984, **40**(5):1050-1056.
- Johnston CS, Thompson LL: Vitamin C status of an outpatient population. JAmCollNutr 1998, 17(4):366-370.
- 287. Hong J, Lee H, Park E, Kim Y-J, Lee H, Park B-H, Ha E-H, Kong K, Chang N, Park H: Association of mid-pregnancy antioxidative vitamin and oxidative stress levels with infant growth during the first 3 years of life. *Food&NutrRes* 2014, **58**(1).
- 288. Roberts II LJ, Fessel JP: **The biochemistry of the isoprostane, neuroprostane, and isofuran** pathways of lipid peroxidation. *Chem&PhysicsLipids* 2004, **128**(1-2):173-186.
- 289. Chen Y, Curran CP, Nebert DW, Patel KV, Williams MT, Vorhees CV: Effect of vitamin C deficiency during postnatal development on adult behavior: functional phenotype of Gulo (-/-) knockout mice. Genes, Brain and Behavior 2012, 11(3):269-277.

- 290. Nacher J, Palop JJ, Ramirez C, Molowny A, Lopez-Garcia C: **Early histological maturation in the** hippocampus of the guinea pig. *Brain BehavEvol* 2000, **56**(1):38-44.
- 291. Guidi S, Ciani E, Severi S, Contestabile A, Bartesaghi R: **Postnatal neurogenesis in the dentate** gyrus of the guinea pig. *Hippocampus* 2005, **15**(3):285-301.
- 292. Seress L, Abraham H, Tornoczky T, Kosztolányi G: **Cell formation in the human hippocampal** formation from mid-gestation to the late postnatal period. *Neuroscience* 2001, **105**(4):831-843.
- 293. Sorrells SF, Paredes MF, Cebrian-Silla A, Sandoval K, Qi D, Kelley KW, James D, Mayer S, Chang J, Auguste KI: Human hippocampal neurogenesis drops sharply in children to undetectable levels in adults. Nature 2018, 555(7696):377-381.
- 294. Eckenhoff MF, Rakic P: Nature and fate of proliferative cells in the hippocampal dentate gyrus during the life span of the rhesus monkey. *JNeurosci* 1988, **8**(8):2729-2747.
- 295. Nowakowski RS, Rakic P: The site of origin and route and rate of migration of neurons to the hippocampal region of the rhesus monkey. *JComp Neurol* 1981, **196**(1):129-154.
- 296. Jabès A, Lavenex PB, Amaral DG, Lavenex P: Quantitative analysis of postnatal neurogenesis and neuron number in the macaque monkey dentate gyrus. *EurJNeurosci* 2010, **31**(2):273-285.
- 297. Falsaperla R, Lombardo F, Filosco F, Romano C, Saporito MAN, Puglisi F, Piro E, Ruggieri M, Pavone P: Oxidative Stress in Preterm Infants: Overview of Current Evidence and Future Prospects. Pharmaceuticals 2020, 13(7):145.
- 298. Burd I, Welling J, Kannan G, Johnston MV: **Excitotoxicity as a common mechanism for fetal neuronal injury with hypoxia and intrauterine inflammation**. In: *AdvPharm.* vol. 76: Elsevier; 2016: 85-101.
- 299. Pregnolato S, Chakkarapani E, Isles AR, Luyt K: **Glutamate Transport and Preterm Brain Injury**. *FrontPhysiol* 2019, **10**(417).
- Parikh P, Juul SE: Neuroprotective Strategies in Neonatal Brain Injury. JPediatrics 2018, 192:22 32.
- 301. Friel JK, Martin SM, Langdon M, Herzberg GR, Buettner GR: Milk from mothers of both premature and full-term infants provides better antioxidant protection than does infant formula. *PedRes* 2002, 51(5):612-618.
- 302. Minić S, Ješić M, Đurović D, Miletić S, Lugonja N, Marinković V, Nikolić-Kokić A, Spasić S, Vrvić MM: Redox properties of transitional milk from mothers of preterm infants. JPaediatr&Child Health 2018, 54(2):160-164.
- 303. Mohamed I, Elremaly W, Rouleau T, Lavoie JC: Ascorbylperoxide contaminating parenteral nutrition is associated with bronchopulmonary dysplasia or death in extremely preterm infants. *JParenteral and Enteral Nutr* 2017, **41**(6):1023-1029.
- 304. Morin G, Guiraut C, Perez Marcogliese M, Mohamed I, Lavoie J-C: Glutathione Supplementation of Parenteral Nutrition Prevents Oxidative Stress and Sustains Protein Synthesis in Guinea Pig Model. Nutrients 2019, 11(9):2063.
- 305. Chessex P, Harrison A, Khashu M, Lavoie J-C: In preterm neonates, is the risk of developing bronchopulmonary dysplasia influenced by the failure to protect total parenteral nutrition from exposure to ambient light? *JPediatrics* 2007, **151**(2):213-214.
- 306. Nualart F, Castro T, Low M, Henríquez JP, Oyarce K, Cisternas P, García A, Yáñez AJ, Bertinat R, Montecinos VP: Dynamic expression of the sodium-vitamin C co-transporters, SVCT1 and SVCT2, during perinatal kidney development. *Histochem&CellBiol* 2013, 139(2):233-247.

- 307. Strahle JM, Triplett RL, Alexopoulos D, Smyser TA, Rogers CE, Limbrick DD, Smyser CD: Impaired hippocampal development and outcomes in very preterm infants with perinatal brain injury. *NeuroImage: Clinical* 2019, 22:101787.
- 308. Twilhaar ES, Wade RM, De Kieviet JF, Van Goudoever JB, Van Elburg RM, Oosterlaan J: **Cognitive** outcomes of children born extremely or very preterm since the **1990s** and associated risk factors: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. *JAMA pediatrics* 2018, **172**(4):361-367.
- 309. Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, França GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J, Murch S, Sankar MJ, Walker N, Rollins NC: Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. *The Lancet* 2016, 387(10017):475-490.
- 310. Infant and Young Child Feeding World Health Organization (WHO) <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/infant-and-young-child-feeding</u> visited 2020.09.01
- 311. Levitt P: Structural and functional maturation of the developing primate brain. *JPediatrics* 2003, 143(4):35-45.
- 312. Fox SE, Levitt P, Nelson III CA: **How the timing and quality of early experiences influence the development of brain architecture**. *Child development* 2010, **81**(1):28-40.
- 313. Cusick SE, Georgieff MK: The role of nutrition in brain development: the golden opportunity of the "first 1000 days". *JPediatrics* 2016, **175**:16-21.
- 314. Harrison FE, Yu SS, Van Den Bossche KL, Li L, May JM, McDonald MP: Elevated oxidative stress and sensorimotor deficits but normal cognition in mice that cannot synthesize ascorbic acid. JNeurochemi 2008, 106(3):1198-1208.
- 315. Kondo Y, Sasaki T, Sato Y, Amano A, Aizawa S, Iwama M, Handa S, Shimada N, Fukuda M, Akita M: Vitamin C depletion increases superoxide generation in brains of SMP30/GNL knockout mice. Biochem&BiophysResComm 2008, 377(1):291-296.
- Padayatty SJ, Katz A, Wang Y, Eck P, Kwon O, Lee JH, Chen S, Corpe C, Dutta A, Dutta SK *et al*:
 Vitamin C as an antioxidant: evaluation of its role in disease prevention. *JAmCollNutr* 2003, 22(1):18-35.
- 317. Shohaimi S, Bingham S, Welch A, Luben R, Day N, Wareham N, Khaw K: Occupational social class, educational level and area deprivation independently predict plasma ascorbic acid concentration: a cross-sectional population based study in the Norfolk cohort of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer (EPIC-Norfolk). *EurJClinNutr* 2004, **58**(10):1432-1435.
- 318. Dror DK, Allen LH: Interventions with Vitamins B6, B12 and C in Pregnancy. *Paed&PerinatEpidem* 2012, **26**(s1):55-74.
- 319. Lykkesfeldt J, Poulsen HE: Is vitamin C supplementation beneficial? Lessons learned from randomised controlled trials. *BrJNutr* 2010, **103**(9):1251-1259.
- Kobylecki CJ, Afzal S, Nordestgaard BG: Genetically high plasma vitamin C and urate: a Mendelian randomization study in 106 147 individuals from the general population. *Rheumatology* 2018, 57(10):1769-1776.
- 321. Boeing H, Bohlscheid-Thomas S, Voss S, Schneeweiss S, Wahrendorf J: **The relative validity of** vitamin intakes derived from a food frequency questionnaire compared to 24-hour recalls and biological measurements: results from the EPIC pilot study in Germany. European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *IntJEpidem* 1997, **26**(suppl_1):S82.

- 322. Sichieri R, Everhart J: Validity of a Brazilian food frequency questionnaire against dietary recalls and estimated energy intake. *NutrRes* 1998, **18**(10):1649-1659.
- 323. Ocke MC, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Pols MA, Smit HA, van Staveren WA, Kromhout D: The Dutch EPIC food frequency questionnaire. II. Relative validity and reproducibility for nutrients. IntJEpidem 1997, 26(suppl_1):S49.
- 324. Pullar JM, Bayer S, Carr AC: Appropriate handling, processing and analysis of blood samples is essential to avoid oxidation of vitamin C to dehydroascorbic acid. *Antioxidants* 2018, **7**(2):29.
- 325. Wang S, Schram IM, Sund RB: Determination of plasma ascorbic acid by HPLC: Method and stability studies. *EurJPharmaceutSci* 1995, **3**(4):231-239.
- 326. Washko PW, Welch RW, Dhariwal KR, Wang Y, Levine M: Ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid analyses in biological samples. *Anal Biochem* 1992, **204**(1):1-14.
- 327. Dietary reference intakes for vitamin C, vitamin E, selenium, and carotenoids : a report of the Panel on Dietary Antioxidants and Related Compounds, Subcommittees on Upper Reference Levels of Nutrients and of Interpretation and Use of Dietary Reference Intakes, and the Standing Committee on the Scientific Evaluation of Dietary Reference Intakes, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine: National Academy Press; 2000.

DEPARTMENT OF VETERINARY AND ANIMAL SCIENCES FACULTY OF HEALTH AND MEDICAL SCIENCES UNIVERSITY OF COPENHAGEN DISSERTATION 2022 · ISBN 978-87-7209-438-0

PERNILLE TVEDEN-NYBORG

A Role of Vitamin C in the Young Brain: Effects of deficiency in a model of human hypovitaminosis C



